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PART I - BUSINESS

Item 1. Business

Background
Ayala Land, Inc. was organized in 1988 when Ayala Corporation decided to spin off its

real estate division into an independent subsidiary to enhance management focus on its
real estate business. ALI went public in July 1991 when its Class “B” Common shares
were listed both in the Manila and Makati Stock Exchanges (the predecessors of the
Philippine Stock Exchange - PSE). On September 12, 1997, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) approved the declassification of the Company’s common class “A”
and common class “B” shares into common shares.

Products

ALI is engaged principally in the planning and development of mixed-use properties,
particularly, the subdivision and sale of residential and commercial/business lots in
planned communities and the development and leasing of retail space and land in these
communities. It also builds and sells high-end residential lots, condominiums,
townhouses, office buildings, middle-income and mass housing products, and develops
and sells industrial and farm lots. ALI is also engaged in the development of leisure
communities. ALI has ownership interests in hotels/serviced apartments and movie
theaters, and provides construction and property management services. ALI, through
subsidiaries, also ventured into the development of sports club, IT-related projects,
operation of amusement centers and food courts, as well as real estate brokerage.

Product Lines (with 10% or more contribution to 2004 consolidated revenues):

Rental operations 22%
(shopping center, office, residential, land lease)

Condominium & high-end residential unit sales 20%

Land sales 16%
(residential, commercial, industrial)

Mass housing 10%

Distribution Methods of Products
The Company’s products are distributed to a wide range of clients through various sales
groups.

To market its high-end products, Ayala Land has its own in-house sales team known as
the Sales and Marketing Services Group and Ayala Land Sales, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary which employs commission-based sales people. ALI also formed Ayala Land
International Sales, Inc. to tap the overseas Filipino market. Separate sales group have
also been formed for certain subsidiaries which cater to different market segments such
as Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc. (mass housing) and Community Innovations, Inc.
(middle-income residential development). To complement these sales groups, Ayala
Land and its subsidiaries also tap external brokers.



Development of the business of the registrant and its operating subsidiaries during the
past three years

Ayala Land, Inc. - parent company (incorporated in 1988), pursued major land
development projects, condominium development and shopping center operations. Its
land development projects included Tamarind Cove, Ayala Hillside Estates, Paseo de
Magallanes, Ayala Westgrove Heights, Plantazionne Verdana Homes and Ayala
Northpoint. Residential condominium and townhouse projects undertaken in the past
three years included The Residences at Greenbelt (Laguna Tower), One Legazpi Park,
Ferndale Homes and Montgomery Place. Shopping center operations at Ayala Center
continued while the redevelopment of Greenbelt was completed.

Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc. (incorporated in 1990), a wholly-owned subsidiary,
continued to develop mass housing projects which offer house-and lot packages and
residential lots. LPHI also ventured into the development and sale of farm/hacienda lots.
Project launches in the past three years included Aeropolis 2 New Manila, Villa Sta.
Cecilia, Riego de Dios Village, One Aeropolis, Sta. Arcadia Estates, Sta. Catalina
Village, St. Alexandra Estates, St. Gabriel Heights, Villa Sta. Monica and Hacienda Sta.
Monica.

Mabkati Development Corporation (incorporated in 1974), 100% owned by ALI,
continued to engage in engineering, design and construction of horizontal and low-rise
vertical developments. It continued to service site development requirements of Ayala-
related projects while it provided services to third parties in both private and public
sectors.

Community Innovations, Inc. (incorporated in 2002), 100% owned by ALI, offers various
residential products to the core middle-income market. The company launched Verdana
Homes Mamplasan in 2004 while it continued to develop and sell Verdana Homes
(Cavite) and The Columns.

Serendra, Inc. - formerly First South Properties, Inc. (incorporated in 1994), 28%-owned
by ALI and 39%-owned by Community Innovations, is engaged in residential
development. In 2004, it launched Serendra, a residential complex at the Bonifacio
Global City in Taguig.

Ayala Land Sales, Inc. (incorporated in 2002), wholly-owned, was formed to sell ALI’s
high-end projects. ALSI employs commission-based brokers.

Ayala Property Management Corp. (incorporated in 1957), also wholly-owned, remained
engaged in property management, principally for ALI and its subsidiaries. It also
provided its services to third-party clients.

Ayala Theaters Management, Inc. (incorporated in 1984), 100% owned, continued to
manage and operate theaters at the Ayala Center in Makati.



Five Star Cinema, Inc. (incorporated in 2000), also wholly-owned, continued to manage
and operate theaters at the Alabang Town Center.

Ayala Infrastracture Ventures, Inc. - renamed Astoria Investment Ventures, Inc. in
February 2005 (incorporated in 1996), a wholly owned subsidiary of ALI, continued to
hold stake in the MRT-3 project.

Food Court Company, Inc. (incorporated in 1997), a 100% owned subsidiary of ALI,
continued to manage and operate a high-end, trend-setting foodcourt known as Food
Choices at the Glorietta 4. Similar projects were also established at the Alabang Town
Center expansion area, Greenbelt 3 and Ayala Center Cebu.

ALInet.com, Inc. (incorporated in 2000), wholly-owned by ALI, continued to operate an
on-line shopping site through MyAyala.com and an on-line cinema tickets reservation
site through Sureseats.com. Through Ayalaport Makati, ALInet continued to operate an
internet data center.

Station Square East Commercial Corporation (incorporated in 1989), 72% owned
subsidiary of ALI, broke ground in 2002 for Market! Market!, a value mall along C-5
Road in Taguig. It opened Phase 1A of the mall in 2004 while it continued to construct
Phase 1B.

Laguna Technopark, Inc. (incorporated in 1990), 61% owned, continued to develop and
sell industrial lots to local and foreign company locators. It also leases a ready-built
factory within the Laguna Technopark.

Ayala Hotels, Inc. (incorporated in 1991), 50% owned, continued to operate Hotel
InterContinental Manila, Cebu City Marriott Hotel and Oakwood Premier Ayala Center.

Roxas Land Corp. (incorporated in 1996), 50% owned, continued to sell One Roxas
Triangle. The project was started in 1996 and was completed in September 2001.

Ayala Greenfield Development Corporation (incorporated in 1997), 50-50% owned by
ALI and Greenfield Development Corporation, started development of Ayala Greenfield
Estates in Calamba, Laguna in 1999. AGDC continued to develop and sell lots in this
high-end residential subdivision.

ALI-CII Development Corporation (incorporated in 1997), a 50-50% joint venture with
Concepcion Industries, continued to operate Metro Point, a mid-market mall at the corner
of EDSA and Taft Avenue. The project was completed in the fourth quarter of 2001 and
is now being leased.

Leisure and Allied Industries Phils., Inc. (incorporated in 1997), a 50-50% joint venture
of ALI with Australian company, LAI Asia Pte. Ltd., continued to operate family
entertainment centers called TimeZone in various Ayala malls, as well as other malls.



Development of the business of the registrant’s affiliates during the past three years

Alabang Commercial Corp. (incorporated in 1978), 50% owned by ALI, continued to
manage and operate the Alabang Town Center.

Cebu Holdings, Inc. (incorporated in 1988), 47% owned by ALI, continued to manage
and operate the Ayala Center Cebu and sell condominium units and lots within the Cebu
Business Park. The company also continued to sell club shares City Sports Club Cebu.
Through Cebu Property Ventures Development Corporation, CHI also sold lots at the
Asiatown IT Park.

Lagoon Development Corporation (incorporated in 1996), 30% owned by ALIL is a joint
venture company with Extraordinary Development Corporation. It continued to operate
Pavilion Mall which is located in Bifian, Laguna.

Emerging City Holdings, Inc. and Berkshires Holdings, Inc. (incorporated in 2003), both
50% owned, served as ALI’s corporate vehicles in the acquisition of a controlling stake
in Bonifacio Land Corp. / Fort Bonifacio Development Corp. through Columbus
Holdings, Inc. in 2003. FBDC continued to sell condominium and commercial lots at the
Bonifacio Global City while it leased out retail spaces.

Regent Time International Limited (incorporated in 2003), 100% owned by ALI also
owns a stake at Bonifacio Land Corp. / Fort Bonifacio Development Corp. through
Columbus Holdings, Inc.

North Triangle Depot Commercial Corp. (incorporated in 2001), 49% owned by ALI
continued to finalize plans for the North Triangle Commercial Center, a 200,000-sqm
mall which will be constructed at the main depot of MRT-3 in Quezon City.

Bankruptcy, Receivership or Similar Proceedings
None for any of the subsidiaries and affiliates above.

Material Reclassification, Merger., Consolidation or Purchase or Sale of a Significant
Amount of Assets (not ordinary)

In 2004, the Company continued its asset rationalization program which resulted in the
sale of receivables and some non-core assets and investments, including a gas station
sites in Alabang and two small Makati properties.

In addition, Ayala Land sold in August 2004 its 28% stake in Pilipinas Makro, Inc. for an
aggregate price of P1.019 billion. The sale of ALI’s Makro shares reflects the intention
of the company to refocus its strategic thrust to its main line of business.



Various diversification programs entered into by the company during the last three years

BPO office buildings

ALI ventured into the development of build-to-suit office buildings catering to business
process outsourcing firms and call centers. PeopleSupport Center broke ground in March
2004 and will be completed in April 2005 while Convergys started construction in July
2004 and will be completed in October 2005.

Medium-rise residential buildings

Through Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc. (LPHI), ALI ventured into the development of
medium-rise residential buildings offering affordable condominium units. One Aeropolis
in Parafiaque was launched in 2003 while Aeropolis 2 New Manila in Quezon City was
launched in 2004.

Leisure community projects
In 2002, ALI created the Leisure and Lifestyle Communities Group to develop leisure
community projects.

Real estate brokerage
Also in 2002, Ayala Land formed Ayala Land Sales, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
engaged in selling ALI’s high-end projects through commission-based broker employees.

Farm/hacienda lots

The Company, through LPHI, ventured into the development and sale of farm/hacienda
lots in 2002 through its projects (Sta. Monica Village and Hacienda Sta. Monica) in Lipa,
Batangas.

Middle-income residentials

ALI ventured into the middle-income urban residential segment through Community
Innovations and Serendra, Inc. with the launch of Verdana Homes in Cavite (2002), The
Columns (2002), Verdana Mamplasan (2004), and Serendra (2004).

Competition

ALI is the only full-line real estate developer in the Philippines with a major presence in
almost all sectors of the industry. ALI believes that, at present, there is no single
property company that has a significant presence in all sectors of the property market.
ALI has different competitors in each of its principal business lines.

With respect to its mall business, ALI’s main competitor is SM Prime. In terms of asset
size, ALI is bigger compared to SM Prime but the latter’s focus on mall operations gives
SM Prime some edge over ALI in this line of business. Nevertheless, ALI is able to
effectively compete for tenants primarily based on its ability to attract customers -- which
generally depends on the quality and location of its shopping centers, mix of tenants,
reputation as a developer, rental rates and other charges.



For office rental properties, ALI sees competition in smaller developers such as Kuok
Properties (developer of Enterprise Building) and non-traditional developers such as the
AIG Group (developer of Philam Towers) and RCBC (developer of RCBC towers). ALI
is able to effectively compete for tenants primarily based upon the quality and location of
its buildings, reputation as a building owner, quality of support services provided by its
property manager, rental and other charges.

With respect to residential lot and condominium sales, ALI competes with smaller
developers such as Megaworld and Fil-Estate Land. ALI is able to effectively compete
for purchasers primarily on the basis of reputation, price, reliability, and the quality and
location of the community in which the relevant site is located.

For the mass housing business, ALI sees Filinvest Land as a key competitor. LPHI is
able to effectively compete for buyers based on quality and location of the project and
availability of attractive in-house financing terms.

Suppliers
The Company has a broad base of suppliers, both local and foreign.

Customers
Ayala Land has a broad market base including local and foreign individual and
institutional clients.

Transactions with related parties
Please refer to Item 12 of this report (“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions).

Licenses

Phenix Building System

A joint venture agreement between Maison Individuelles, S.A. (MISA) of France and
LPHI was organized in June 1998 and subsequently registered with the SEC as Laguna
Phenix Structures Corporation (LPSC) in July 1999.

LPSC, a 50%-50% joint venture, is primarily engaged in the business of manufacturing,
installation, erection and construction, marketing and promotion, and wholesaling of
buildings, houses and other structures and accessories using the “Phenix” technology (for
which a patent has been registered and issued in the Philippines under RP Patent No.
29862). Both MISA and LPHI assigned their respective license rights to LPSC since the
latter’s incorporation.



Tex Building System

By virtue of the license rights granted in 1996, LPHI operates the manufacturing of pre-
cast concrete panels and columns/other components using the TEX Building System with
RP Patent No. 30327.

The on-site battery casting system and the plant facilities were procured from TEX
Holdings PLC, a limited company organized and exiting under the laws of England.

Government approvals/regulations
The Company secures various government approvals such as the ECC, development
permits, license to sell, etc. as part of the normal course of its business.

Employees

Ayala Land has a total workforce of 424 employees (1,433 including subsidiaries’
manpower) as of December 31, 2004. The Company expects to more or less maintain its
number of employees in the next 12 months.

ALI and Ayala Land Inc. Employee's Union successfully renewed its Collective
Bargaining Agreement (CBA) in December 2004 for a period of 2 years up to end-2006.
ALI management had generally not encountered difficulties with its labor force, and no
strikes had been staged in the past.

Of the 424 ALI employees, the breakdown of employees according to type is as follows:

Sales & Marketing Services Group 44
Project Development Group 171
Support Group 209

Total 424

In addition to the basic salary and 13" month pay, other supplemental benefits provided
by ALI to its employees include: mid-year bonus, performance bonus, monthly
commodities allowance, medical allowance, dental benefits, various loan facilities and
stock option plan among others.

Risks

Avyala Land is subject to significant competition in each of its principal businesses. Ayala
Land competes with other developers and developments to attract purchasers of land and
condominiums, retail and office tenants, and customers for the retail outlets, restaurants
and hotels in its commercial centers.

However, Ayala Land believes that, at present, there is no single property company that
has a significant presence in all sectors of the property market.



High-End, Middle Income and Mass Housing Developments

With respect to high-end land and condominium sales, Ayala Land competes for
purchasers primarily on the basis of reputation, reliability, price and the quality and
location of the community in which the relevant site is located. For the middle income
and mass housing markets, Ayala Land competes for buyers based on quality of projects,
affordability of units, and availability of in-house financing.

Office Space, Retail and Land Rental

For its office rental properties, Ayala Land competes for tenants primarily based upon the
quality and location of the relevant building, the reputation of the building’s owner, the
quality of support services provided by the property manager, and rental and other
charges.

With respect to its retail properties, Ayala Land competes for tenants primarily based
upon the ability of the relevant retail center to attract customers - which generally
depends on the quality and location of, and mix of tenants in, the relevant retail center
and the reputation of the owner of the retail center- and rental and other charges. The
market for shopping centers has become especially competitive and the number of
competing properties is expected to grow. Some competing shopping centers are located
within relatively close proximity of each of Ayala Land’s commercial centers (including
the commercial center constructed by its affiliate, Cebu Holdings, Inc. in Cebu Business
Park).

Industrial Property Business

The industrial property business is affected by an oversupply as well as limited industrial
expansion and declining foreign investments. The entry of China into the World Trade
Organization in 2003 is still expected to pose strong competition for foreign direct
investment. Overall, the industrial property segment is not likely to show significant
demand improvement in the near term.

Hotel Operations

After a slump of several years, the local hotel sector experienced marked growth in both
occupancy and rental rates. The Company’s hotels, known for their premium value and
service, performed strongly in each of their respective markets. Any slowdown in
tourism could potentially limit growth of the Company’s hotels.

Construction and Property Development

Ayala Land’s construction business is benefiting from the improved performance of the
construction industry, particularly from an uptick in development activities mostly from
the housing and retail sector. ~ Any slowdown in the construction business could
potentially cap growth of the Company’s construction arm.



Other risks that the company may be exposed to are the following:

— Changes in Philippine and international interest rates

— Changes in the value of the Peso

— Changes in construction material and labor costs, power rates and other costs

— Changes in laws and regulations that apply to the Philippine real estate industry
— Changes in the country’s political and economic conditions

To mitigate the above mentioned risks, Ayala Land shall continue to adopt appropriate

risk management tools as well as conservative financial and operational controls and
policies to manage the various business risks it faces.

Working Capital

Ayala Land finances its working capital requirements through a combination of
internally-generated cash, pre-selling, joint ventures, borrowings and proceeds from the
sale of non-core assets and installment receivables.

Domestic and Export Sales

Amounts of revenue, profitability, and identifiable assets attributable to domestic and
foreign operations for 2004, 2003 and 2002 follow: (in P 000)

Revenues:
Domestic
Foreign

Operating income (loss):

Domestic
Foreign

Total assets:
Domestic
Foreign

2004
18,126,791

7,688,870

73,348,605

2003
14,623,932

6,560,260

67,012,052

2002
12,214,133

5,652,463

61,767,216



Item 2. Properties

Landbank / Properties with mortgage or lien

The following table provides summary information on ALI’s landbank as of December
31, 2004 representing fully converted properties. Properties are wholly-owned and free

of lien unless noted.

Location Hectares % of Total
Makati ' 56 1.55%
Taguig * 68 1.89%
Alabang * 18 0.50%
Quezon City * 53 1.47%
Antipolo 15 0.42%
Las Pifias 146 4.04%
Metro Manila 356 9.87%
Laguna ’ 2,385 66.08%
Cavite ° 283 7.84%
Batangas ’ 54 1.50%
Quezon ® 62 1.70%
Calabarzon 2,784 77.12%
Naga 42 1.18%
Cabanatuan/ Baguio 61 1.70%
Other Luzon Area 104 2.88%
Bacolod ’ 163 4.52%
Cebu ' 155 4.30%
Davao 32 0.89%
Cagayan De Oro 15 0.42%
Visayas/Mindanao 366 10.13%
TOTAL 3,610 100.00%

" Includes sites of Mandarin Hotel (1.6 has.) and Peninsula Hotel (2.0 has.) which are 50% owned
through Ayala Hotels, Inc.; 1.37 has. of which is mortgaged to Bank of the Philippine Islands in
compliance with Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas ruling on directors, officers, stockholders and
related interests (DOSRI); 0.16 has. mortgaged with GSIS to secure surety bonds in favor of
Bases Conversion Development Authority; 1.75 has. subject of a leasehold rights to secure Cebu
Insular Hotel Company, Inc.’s loan with Deutsche Investitions-Und Entwicklungsgesellschaft

MBH.

* 9.8-ha. site of Market! Market! under lease arrangement with Bases Conversion Development
Authority; 12-ha. “Lot B” (site of Serendra) under joint development agreement with Bases
Conversion Development Authority; 47 has. in Fort Bonifacio owned through FBDC.
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For Market! Market!, the lease agreement with the BCDA covers a period of 25 years (renewable
for another 25 years) and involves an upfront cash payment of P700M and annual lease payments
with fixed and variable components.

For Lot B, the joint development agreement with BCDA involves an upfront cash payment of
P700M plus a guaranteed revenue stream totaling P1.1B over an 8-year period.

? Includes the 17.6-ha. Alabang Town Center which is 50% owned through Alabang Commercial
Corp.

* About 40 has. under joint venture with Armed Forces of the Philippines — Mutual Benefit
Association, Inc.; remaining 10 has. in Ayala Hillside under override arrangement with Capitol
Hills Golf and Country Club, Inc.

> Includes over 1,300 has. which are 70% owned through Aurora Properties, Inc. and Vesta
Holdings, Inc.; also includes remaining 407 has. which are under a 50-50% joint venture with
Greenfield Development Corp.; and remaining 12 has. in Laguna Technopark, Inc. which is 61%
owned by Ayala Land. 6.92 has. is mortgaged to Land Bank of the Philippines as a security for
term loan of Laguna Properties; 12.78 has. is subject of a mortgage trust indenture securing Jexim
loans of Laguna Properties with China Banking Corporation and Banco De Oro Universal Bank;
42.3 has. is subject of an mortgage trust indenture securing Ayala Greenfield Development
Corporation’s International Exchange Bank loan.

® Includes remaining 18 has. in Riego de Dios Village which is under joint venture with the
Armed Forces of the Philippines.

" Includes remaining 21 has. in Sto. Tomas project which is under an override arrangement.

¥ Includes a 5.63 has. of property which is mortgaged with Land Bank of the Philippines as a
security for term loan of Laguna Properties.

? Includes remaining 96 has. in Ayala Northpoint which is under an override arrangement.

' Includes about 13 has. in Cebu Business Park which is 47% owned through Cebu Holdings,
Inc.; 0.62-ha. hotel site owned by Ayala Hotels, Inc. and Cebu Holdings, Inc.; and remaining 11
has. in Cebu Civic and Trade Center which is owned by Cebu Property Ventures and
Development Corporation which in turn is 76% owned by Cebu Holdings, Inc. An 8.84-ha.
Property (within the Cebu Business Park) which houses the Ayala Center-Cebu is subject of a
mortgage trust indenture securing term loan with Bank of the Philippine Islands; 0.62 has. is
subject of a mortgage trust indenture securing Cebu Insular Hotel Company Inc.’s term loan with
Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH.

Rental Properties

The Company’s key properties for lease include the Ayala Center in Makati and its four
office buildings (Tower One, 6750 Ayala Avenue, MSE Building, Ayala Life-FGU
Center). It also leases land, carparks and some residential units. In the year 2004, rental
revenues accounted for P3.94 billion or 22% of Ayala Land’s consolidated revenues.
Lease terms vary depending on the type of property and tenant.
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Property Acquisitions

With 3,610 hectares in its landbank as of end-2004, Ayala Land believes that it has
sufficient properties for development at least for the next 10 years.

In the early part of 2005, Ayala Land acquired joint development rights on over 320
hectares of land in Morong, Bataan. At present, there is no known major acquisition
lined up for the rest of 2005. ALI does not have any specific property in mind but it is
open to acquiring properties which it deems strategic. ALI’s preferred mode of
acquisition, going forward, would be through joint ventures with landowners.
Meanwhile, ALI continues to assess its landholdings to identify properties which no
longer fit its overall business strategy and hence, can be disposed of.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Ayala Land is not involved in any litigation it deems material. However, certain
individuals and entities have claimed an interest in Ayala Land's properties located in Las
Pinas, Metro Manila, which are adjacent to its development in Ayala Southvale. The
controversy involves approximately 146 hectares owned by Ayala Land in Las Pifias.

Prior to purchasing the aforesaid properties, Ayala Land conducted an investigation of
the titles to the properties and had no notice of any title or claim that was superior to the
titles purchased by Ayala Land. Ayala Land traced its titles to their original certificates of
title and Ayala Land believes that it has established its superior ownership position over
said parcels of land. Ayala Land has assessed these adverse claims and believes that its
titles are in general superior to the purported titles or other evidence of alleged ownership
of these claimants. On this basis, beginning in October 1993, Ayala Land filed petitions
in local regional trial courts of Makati and Las Pifas for quieting of title to nullify the
purported titles or claims of these adverse claimants. A number of these cases are at
various stages of trial and appeal. Some of these cases have been finally decided by the
Supreme Court in Ayala Land’s favor. These include two decisions affirming the title of
ALI to approximately 21 hectares of these properties, which are now being developed as
Phase 2 of Ayala Southvale.

Ayala Land does not intend to develop and sell the rest of the Las Pifias properties until
the litigations are resolved.

In addition, Mr. Manuel Sanchez, a stockholder of Capitol Hills Golf & Country Club,
Inc. ("CHGCC"), has publicly threatened to file suit against Ayala Land in connection
with the joint development by Ayala Land and CHGCC of the Ayala Hillside Estates, a
residential subdivision project located in what used to be a portion of the golf course of
CHGCC in Diliman, Quezon City. Mr. Sanchez' claims pertain to the alleged lack of
corporate approval of the stockholders of CHGCC for the development of CHGCC's
property and the alleged irregularities in the issuance by the relevant government
agencies of the permits for the project. Ayala Land has been advised that CHGCC has
sought and obtained the dismissal of certain of these claims and that the relevant issuing
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agencies of the government have affirmed that the pertinent permits for the development
of the project have been regularly issued.

Ayala Land has made no provision in respect of such actual or threatened litigations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Except for the matters taken up during the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, there was no

other matter submitted to a vote of security holders during the period covered by this
report.
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PART II - SECURITIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Item 5. Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholders Matters

Market Information

Ayala Land common shares are listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange.

Stock Prices (in Php/share) High Low Close
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
First Quarter 6.50 5.30 490 435 530 4.55
Second Quarter 5.90 6.60 520 4.50 580 6.00
Third Quarter 6.60 6.90 520 5.70 6.50  6.30
Fourth Quarter 7.30  6.70 6.30 5.30 7.30  6.10

The market capitalization of ALI as of end-2004, based on the closing price of
P7.30/share, was approximately P78.6 billion.

As of end-March 2005, ALI’s market capitalization stood at P89.5 billion based on the
P8.30/share closing price.

Stockholders

As of end-2004, Ayala Land had approximately 13,750 shareholders (based on number of
accounts registered with the stock transfer agent).

Top 20 shareholders as of December 31, 2004:

NAME NATIONALITY OWNERSHIP % OWNERSHIP
(1) Ayala Corporation (Record & Beneficial) Filipino 6,731,199,095 62.47%
(2) PCD Nominee Corporation Non-Filipino 2,679,062,776 24.85%
(3) PCD Nominee Corporation Filipino 817,663,429 7.60%
(4) AC International Finance, Ltd. Filipino 113,782,150 1.06%
(5) The Insular Life Assurance Co., Ltd. Filipino 47,354,311 0.44%
(6) SSS Loans & Investment Office Filipino 18,873,388 0.18%
(7) Jose Luis Gerardo Yulo Filipino 12,176,572 0.11%
(8) Cygnet Development Corp. Filipino 12,131,320 0.11%
(9) BPI Trust Account #14016732 British 10,103,870 0.09%
(10) Pua Yok Bing Filipino 6,131,619 0.06%
(11) Elvira L. Yulo Filipino 6,020,000 0.06%
(12) BPI Trust Account #14016724 American 4,940,340 0.05%
(13) Abacus Capital & Investment Corp. Filipino 4,820,000 0.04%
(14) Estrellita B. Yulo Filipino 4,777,353 0.04%
(15) Rivercrest Realty Corporation Filipino 4,705,000 0.04%
(16) The Insular Life Assurance Co., Ltd. Filipino 4,521,800 0.04%
(17) BPI Trust Account # 14016783 American 4,502,282 0.04%
(18) Carlos D. Apostol Filipino 4,285,840 0.04%
(19) Maria Alexandra Q. Caniza Filipino 3,775,855 0.04%
(20) Meralco Foundation, Inc. Filipino 3,680,548 0.03%
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Dividends

STOCK DIVIDEND (Per Share)

PERCENT DECLARATION DATE RECORD DATE PAYMENT DATE
20% April 15, 1998 May 7, 1998 June 19, 1998
20% April 26, 2000 May 16, 2000 June 26, 2000

CASH DIVIDEND (Per Share)

PESO AMOUNT DECLARATION DATE RECORD DATE PAYMENT DATE
0.03 June 20, 2003 July 25,2003 August 20, 2003
0.26 August 27, 2003 September 26, 2003 October 22, 2003
0.03 December 5, 2003 December 23, 2003 January 16, 2004
0.03 July 27, 2004 August 13, 2004 August 27, 2004
0.03 December 7, 2004 December 28, 2004 January 25, 2005
0.10 February 14, 2005 March 14, 2005 March 30, 2005

Dividend policy

Dividends declared by the Company on its shares of stocks are payable in cash or in
additional shares of stock. The payment of dividends in the future will depend upon the
earnings, cash flow and financial condition of the Company and other factors.

Special cash dividends are declared depending on the availability of cash, taking into
account the Company’s capex and project requirements and the progress of its ongoing
asset rationalization program.

Cash dividends are subject to approval by the Company's Board of Directors but no
stockholder approval is required. Property dividends which may come in the form of
additional shares of stock are subject to approval by both the Company's Board of
Directors and the Company's stockholders. In addition, the payment of stock dividends is
likewise subject to the approval of the SEC and PSE.

Other than the restrictions imposed by the Corporation Code of the Philippines, there is
no other restriction that limits the Company’s ability to pay dividends on common equity.

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities

Within the past three years, the Company issued 63.375 million common shares to Ayala
Corporation on 28 November 2003 in exchange for the old Ayala Museum lot of Ayala
Corporation. The following valuations were used in the exchange of the Company’s
shares for the old Museum lot, to wit:

1. ALI shares: P8.40 per share which is 29% above the 19 August 2003
closing price; and
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2. Museum lot: P227,500 per sq.m. This is the average of the appraised
values determined by Asian Appraisal Company, Inc. and Cuervo
Appraisers as of 02 June 2003.

AB Capital and Investment Corporation was commissioned to determine the valuation that
will be used in the exchange of the old Museum lot with an area of 2,340 sq.m. and the
63.375M new common shares of the Corporation.

An exemption from registration was claimed with the SEC under Section 10.1 (e) of the
SRC, “The sale of capital stock of a corporation to its own stockholders exclusively,
where no commission or other remuneration is paid or given directly or indirectly in
connection with the sale of such capital stock.”

Stock Options

There was a total of 12.8 million shares issued in 2004 representing exercise of stock
options by the Company’s executives. The aforesaid issuance of shares was covered by
the Commission’s approval of the Company’s Stock Option Plan on July 1991.

Please refer to Note 17 (“Stock Option Plans”) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements of the 2004 Audited Financial Statements which is incorporated herein in the
accompanying Index to Exhibits.
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PART III - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation

Review of 2004 Operations versus 2003

Results of Operations

Given favorable market response to its high quality and innovative products, Ayala Land
posted a record-high consolidated revenues of P18.1 billion, 24% higher than previous
year's level. Initiatives to efficiently manage cost cushioned the effects of increasing
margin pressure from rising costs, enabling the Company to post an 11% growth in net
income to P3.0 billion.

Strong growth was experienced across the Company's various business lines.

Avyala Land's leasing business, derived from shopping centers, office buildings and hotels
exhibited good growth due to improving market conditions and superior quality of leased
properties and contributed 31% of total revenues.

Shopping centers and office leasing revenues amounted to P3.9 billion, contributed 22%
to total and grew by 10% year-on-year. The Company's shopping centers, which
benefited from further expansions, high occupancies and strong merchant sales, drove
leasing revenues. In the past year, total mall leasable area increased with the opening of
Greenbelt 4, completion of SM Makati renovation and start of operations of Market!
Market! As of year-end, retail shopping center GLA (excluding hotels) amounted to
730,000 sqms. Weighted average occupancy of shopping centers was 95%, excluding
Market! Market! which opened in September and had 82% of its 115,000 sqms leaseable
area leased out/committed by year-end. At Ayala Center, which generates the bulk of
shopping center revenues, total sales and same-store sales grew by 11% and 8%,
respectively, given the increased pedestrian traffic generated by the efficient walkway
system and sustained advertising and marketing activities. An escalation in basic rents
also contributed to rental revenue growth.

Office leasing remained resilient as seen in the high 94% average occupancy rate enjoyed
by the Company-owned buildings. To further increase its office rental revenues, Ayala
Land is carving a niche in the build-to-suit office building segment as it addresses the
growing demand from call centers and BPO firms. Construction of PeopleSuppport
Center and Convergys Center are in full swing and will be completed by April and
October, respectively. These buildings will add 30,000 sqms of leasable area and increase
the Company's office portfolio by 43% to about 100,000 sqms.

With the hotel sector's marked recovery in 2004, the Company's hotel and serviced
apartment properties did well. Revenues from hotel operations contributed 9% of
consolidated revenues or P1.5 billion, up 21% year-on-year. Higher visitor arrivals led to
significant improvement in occupancies, allowing moderate increases in room rates.
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Oakwood Premier Ayala Center's average occupancy rate was 89%, significantly higher
than previous year's 69% and much better than MCBD hotels' average of 75%. Hotel
InterContinental Manila was 71% occupied compared to 66% in 2003. Meanwhile, Cebu
City Marriott Hotel posted a high occupancy rate of 85%, also better than Cebu hotels'
average of 72%.

In 2004, the Company's development business lines expanded due to new project
launches which kept pace with improvements in the property market.

Condominium and high-end residential unit sales generated P3.6 billion in revenues and
contributed 20% to total revenues. This is nearly double last year's level as the Company
successfully launched Serendra and sold One Legazpi Park receivables which paved the
way for an accelerated revenue booking. By end-2004, a total of 1,031 units have been
offered for sale at Serendra, 55% of which has been taken up. Higher sales at
Montgomery Place and One Roxas Triangle, as well as additional sales and revenue
recognition on prior year sales at The Residences at Greenbelt (Laguna Tower), also
contributed to the significant revenue increase. The sale of 1,773 sqms of office space at
Ayala Life FGU Center in Makati further augmented revenues.

The sale of residential, commercial and industrial lots contributed 16% to consolidated
revenues or P2.9 billion, about the same level as last year. At Ayala Greenfield Estates,
the completion of the golf course's first nine holes boosted sales, bringing cumulative
take-up rate to 91% of the 508 lot offering as of year-end. Steady community build up at
Ayala Westgrove Heights prompted the construction of a neighborhood retail area,
bringing take-up rate to 90% of 1,535 lots. At Ayala Hillside Estates, the completion of
the 18-hole golf course attracted new buyers and brought the project's take-up rate to
98%. Also contributing to land sales were the 2,997-sqm gas station site in Alabang and a
2,400-sqm lot within the MCBD. At Laguna Technopark, a total of 3.7 hectares were sold
in 2004, slightly lower than previous year's 4.1 hectares.

Revenues from mass housing sales through Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc. (LPHI)
amounted to P1.8 billion or 10% of total. While LPHI's sales booking increased by 6% to
1,536 units in 2004, mass housing revenues slightly declined by 4% due to the still low
revenues recognized from medium-rise condominium projects given their early stage of
construction. In addition, there were more high-value commercial lots sold in 2003.
LPHI's affordable line accounted for nearly two-thirds of sales volume in 2004. These
products, priced at P750,000 to P1.8 million per unit, came primarily from projects like
Sta. Catalina Village (Dasmarifias, Cavite), San Francisco Village (Sto. Tomas,
Batangas) and Villa Sta. Monica (Lipa, Batangas). LPHI's affordable condominium line,
while still a relatively new product, has also been well-received. The first and second
towers of One Aeropolis in Sucat, Parafiaque were 97% and 76% taken-up, respectively,
while newly-launched Aeropolis 2 New Manila, Quezon City was 13% taken-up by year-
end.

Revenues from the sale of middle-income residential units through Community
Innovations, Inc. (CII) amounted to P1.3 billion, representing a 97% year-on-year growth
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and accounting for 7% of Ayala Land's consolidated revenues. Driving growth in the
core-mid segment were new sales and construction accomplishment at The Columns. The
project's nearly fully sold first tower was topped off while the second and third towers,
78% and 69% taken up as of end-2004, were 49% and 12% complete, respectively.
Serendra (District 2) and Verdana Mamplasan, both launched in 2004, also contributed to
the growth. Of the 416 lots offered for sale at Verdana Mamplasan, 34% has been taken
up. Soon, CII will launch house-and-lot packages within this project.

Two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Makati Development Corporation (MDC) and Ayala
Property Management Corporation (APMC), continued to service Company projects.
MDC and APMC also serviced third-party clients from which they derived combined
revenues of about P1.0 billion, contributing 5% to consolidated revenues. This represents
a 30% year-on-year growth, with various MDC projects for BCDA and Manila Water, as
well as Market! Market! and Ayala Greenfield Estates, accounting for the increase.

Interest and other income accounted for 11% of revenues and amounted to P2.1 billion.
The 20% increase was due to higher interest income, higher equity earnings from Fort
Bonifacio Development Corporation, Cebu Holdings, Inc. and Alabang Commercial
Corporation, higher management and marketing fees and gain on sale of shares in some
companies.

Financial Condition

A strong balance sheet enabled the Company to launch new projects, pursue expansion
plans and fund strategic investments.

Liquidity was preserved, backed by strong cash generation from leasing operations. Cash
reserves stood at P6.4 billion as of end-2004, 31% higher than end-2003 level, keeping
current ratio at a high level of 1.71:1.

Further enhancing liquidity were the sale of receivables and non-strategic assets which, in
2004, generated P3.2 billion net cash proceeds. This enabled the Company to pare down
debt, amidst expanding project offerings, to P13.4 billion, 7% lower than end-2003 level.
With a low debt-to-equity ratio of only 0.36:1, the Company has room to gear up for
strategic investments.

In 2004, Ayala Land's consolidated project and capital expenditures amounted to P8.1
billion, 47% of which was spent for residential buildings and townhouse projects,
primarily Serendra, Montgomery Place, One Legazpi Park and The Residences at
Greenbelt. Nearly 30% was used for buildings for lease including Market! Market! and
PeopleSupport Center. The balance was used for residential subdivision projects and
equity investments. For 2005, Ayala land is allocating a P13.6 billion budget for
consolidated project and capital expenditures.
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Key Performance Indicators

The table below sets forth the comparative key performance indicators of the Company
and its majority-owned subsidiaries:

End-2004 End-2003
Current ratio ' 1.71:1 1.78:1
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.36:1 0.41:1
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.19:1 0.27:1

FY 2004 FY 2003
Return on assets 4.5% 4.4%
Return on equity ° 8.5% 7.7%

"Current assets / current liabilities

? Total interest-bearing debt (inclusive of bonds and CPs) / stockholders' equity
7 Interest-bearing debt less cash & cash equivalents / stockholders' equity

? Net income / total assets (at the beginning of the year)

’ Net income / stockholders’ equity (at the beginning of the year)

There were no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that
is material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

Likewise, there were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements,
obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the
Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the
reporting period.

There were no disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial
disclosure.

Looking Ahead

Ayala Land has lined up new projects that will enable the Company to capitalize on
emerging opportunities given the anticipated recovery of the property sector. To further
strengthen its recurring revenue base, Ayala Land increased its stake in the North
Triangle Commercial Center, a 200,000-sqm mall which will commence construction
within the first half of 2005. In addition, Phase 1B of Market! Market! with about 35,000
sqms of leasable space will be completed by 4Q 2005.

On the development side, the Company launched in February 2005 the next phase in
Ayala Southvale while the second tower of The Residences at Greenbelt will be offered
for sale within 2Q2005. Ayala Land will also embark on its first leisure project, a high-
end seaside residential resort community to be developed on over 320 hectares of land in
Morong, Bataan.

While pursuing new projects, the Company will continue to roll-out new phases in
existing projects.
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As the Company builds up its product portfolio across a wider market, it will continue to
put emphasis on cost efficiency to preserve margins and deliver the best value for money
for its customers. The expanded product offerings will be complemented by intensified
sales and marketing efforts to broaden market reach and tap the growing market of
overseas-based Filipinos.

Material changes (/- 5% or more) in the financial statements

Income Statement items - 2004 versus 2003

25% increase in real estate revenues

Principally due to higher sales bookings at Ayala Greenfield Estates, Ayala Westgrove
Heights, Ayala Northpoint, Montgomery Place and One Roxas Triangle; sales at newly-
launched projects Serendra and Verdana Homes Mamplasan; sale of office spaces at
Ayala Life FGU Center in Makati, an office lot within the MCBD and a gasoline station
site in Alabang; accelerated revenue booking of installment sales at One Legazpi Park
due to the sale of receivables; revenue recognition on prior years' sales due to additional
construction accomplishment at One Legazpi Park, The Residences at Greenbelt (Laguna
Tower) and The Columns; higher mass housing sales due to new LPHI projects; higher
rental revenues from shopping centers due to additional leasable space, increase in basic
rent and robust sales of merchants; and higher construction revenues.

21% increase in revenues from hotel operations
Primarily due to higher occupancy and room rates at the Company's hotel properties.

20% increase in interest and other income
Largely due to higher interest income, equity earnings, management fees and marketing
fees; and gain on sale of shares in some companies.

35% increase in real estate cost and expenses

Mainly due to higher real estate revenues; Roxas Land Corporation's project cost
adjustment; higher RPT, marketing expenses, depreciation expenses for rental properties
and insurance; and change in revenue/product mix.

8% increase in hotel operations expenses
Largely due to higher occupancy rates at the Company's hotel properties.

36% increase in general and administrative expenses

Primarily due to higher payroll costs; higher ESOP availments and contributions to
retirement fund; and additional expenses from expanding subsidiaries such as Ayala Land
Sales, Inc., Community Innovations, Inc. and Serendra, Inc.

13% decrease in interest and other charges
Principally due to the real property tax (RPT) charges in 2003.
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58% increase in provision for income tax
Basically due to lower tax in 2003 given the tax deductibility of the RPT charges.

168% decrease in net earnings applicable to minority interest
Largely due to Roxas Land Corporation's loss which resulted from project cost

adjustments.

Balance Sheet items - End-2004 versus End-2003

31% increase in cash and cash equivalents

Mainly due to proceeds from the sale of non-core assets and installment receivables,
partly offset by the upfront cash payment to BCDA for the Serendra project and loan
payments.

65% increase in accounts and notes receivables (current portion)

Primarily due to additional sales from new projects of ALI, Laguna Properties Holdings,
Inc. & Community Innovations, Inc.; advances to a subsidiary; and increase in advances
to contractors.

20% decline in subdivision land for sale

Mainly due to continued sales at residential subdivision developments such as Ayala
Greenfield Estates, Ayala Westgrove Heights, Ayala Hillside Estates, Paseo de
Magallanes, Ayala Northpoint and Plantazionne Verdana Homes, as well as industrial
park project Laguna Technopark.

11% decrease in condominium and residential units for sale
Largely due to continued sales at residential building projects such as One Legazpi Park,
The Residences at Greenbelt (Laguna Tower), The Columns and One Aeropolis.

86% increase in deferred tax and other current assets
Mainly due to higher prepaid expenses and creditable withholding taxes of some
subsidiaries.

18% increase in non-current accounts and notes receivables
Largely due to increase in installment sales at various projects.

9% decline in land and improvements
Primarily due to transfer of a formerly unutilized property (now site of Convergys
Center) to Investments.

14% increase in investments

Mainly due to the expansion of leasing portfolio through Market! Market!, PeopleSupport
Center and Convergys Center, as well as the acquisition of additional stake in the North
Triangle Depot Commercial Corporation.
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9% increase in other assets
Largely due to increase in prepaid items.

43% increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses

Primarily due to the additional purchases by ALI and some subsidiaries such as Laguna
Properties Holdings, Inc., Roxas Land Corporation, Makati Development Corporation
and Serendra, Inc.

33% increase in loans payable

Largely due to ALI's STCP issuance and new loan availments of Station Square East
Commercial Corporation, Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc., Ayala Greenfield
Development Corporation, Roxas Land Corporation, Community Innovations Inc. and
Leisure and Allied Industries Phils.

47% increase in income tax payable
Additional income tax payable mainly due to 2004 operations.

17% decline in current portion of long-term debt
Largely due to payment of long-term debt.

24% increase in current portion of estimated liability for land and property development
Primarily due to new sales at existing and new projects.

22% decrease in other current liabilities
Due to payment made to a landowner.

10% decline in long-term debt (net of current portion)
Mainly due to payment and reclassification to current of some long-term debt.

17% increase in non-current liabilities and deposits
Due to increase in tenants' deposits at Market! Market! and higher deferred credits such
as DST and transfer taxes.

81% increase in non-current portion of estimated liability for land and property
development
Primarily due to new sales at existing and new projects.

16% increase in minority interest

Mainly due to additional share of minority partners in net income of Ayala Greenfield
Development Corporation, Leisure and Allied Industries Philippines, Laguna Technopark
Inc., Ayala Hotels Inc. and Serendra, Inc.

7% increase in stockholders' equity
Largely due to higher retained earnings from 2004 net income.
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Review of 2003 Operations versus 2002

Results of Operations

Ayala Land continued to maintain its preeminent position in traditional markets while
vigorously pursuing available opportunities in emerging growth areas. This enabled the
Company to post an 8% growth in net income to P2.71 billion derived from consolidated
revenues of P14.62 billion, 20% higher than previous year’s level.

The Company’s rental portfolio performed well with an 8% increase in rental revenues to
P3.59 billion, contributing 24% to total revenues. Rental revenues from commercial
centers, primarily driven by Ayala Center, contributed nearly 80% to total rentals. With
the full year operations of Greenbelt 2 and 3, as well as the opening of Greenbelt 4 in the
fourth quarter, total sales at Ayala Center grew by 6% year-on-year. Ayala Center
maintained a high occupancy rate of 95% and attracted more mall visitors as new stores
opened. Meanwhile, the Company’s office properties also did well, with high occupancy
rates averaging at 95%. These properties continued to command premium pricing given
their superior location, better quality and high level of property management.

Land sales also drove revenues, contributing P2.85 billion, or 19% of total revenues.
This represents a 35% increase year-on-year, primarily due to higher sales bookings at
Ayala Westgrove Heights, Ayala Hillside Estates and Plantazionne Verdana Homes. At
the end of the year, take up rates were 86% of 1,329 lots at Westgrove, 84% of 121 ALI-
owned lots at Hillside and 71% of 159 lots at Plantazionne. Industrial lot sales were also
higher as Laguna Technopark sold seven lots with a total area of 4.1 hectares in 2003
versus one lot with an area of 0.6 hectare in the previous year. Also pushing revenues
from land sales were the two Madrigal Business Park lots sold in the first quarter.
Further augmenting lot sales were other subdivision projects such as Ayala Greenfield
Estates, Paseo de Magallanes and Tamarind Cove.

With the strong performance of Ayala Land’s new condominium projects, revenues from
residential unit sales grew by 20% to P1.88 billion, accounting for 13% of consolidated
revenues. Launched in June, the 249-unit The Residences at Greenbelt — Laguna Tower
met favorable market response as seen in the take-up rate of 61% by year-end. One
Legazpi Park was nearly fully sold with a 96% take-up rate. Contributions from these
two projects, however, were tempered by the revenue recognition process which takes
into account the completion rate of the buildings. At the end of 2003, The Residences at
Greenbelt — Laguna Tower was 3% complete while One Legazpi Park’s completion rate
was at 34%. Meanwhile, the Company also realized additional sales at One Roxas
Triangle, Ferndale Homes and Montgomery Place.

Through Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc. (LPHI), Ayala Land continued to address the
underserved demand for mass housing. With intensified sales efforts, LPHI’s sales
bookings in 2003 totaled 1,451 units, 29% higher than previous year’s 1,121. Revenues
grew by 31% to P1.86 billion, representing 13% of consolidated revenues. During the
year, LPHI ventured into its first medium-rise residential building project, One Aeropolis
in Sucat, Parafiaque, as well as Sta. Arcadia Estates, its first mass housing project in
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Northern Luzon. At the end of 2003, 82% of the 240 units at the first tower of One
Aeropolis, soft launched in June, was taken up, leading to the launch of the 2" tower in
November. Sta. Arcadia Estates, launched in October, posted a 16% take-up rate for its
167-unit initial phase.

The middle-income residential segment, through Community Innovations, Inc. (CII),
contributed P658 million or 5% to total revenues. With Verdana Homes’ full sell-out in
2003, CII focused on the sale of The Columns, its three-tower residential complex within
Makati. Given encouraging market response in the first two towers, the third tower was
launched ahead of schedule in November. By year-end, take-up rates were posted at
93%, 71% and 13% for the first, second and third tower, respectively. To complete the
community offering at Verdana Homes, CII launched the Verdana Village Center in the
third quarter. Five out of the 18 commercial lots put on the market were sold as of year-
end.

Revenues from hotel operations contributed 9% to total revenues or P1.28 billion, slightly
lower by 2%, reflecting reduced occupancy rates and lower room rates of hotels at the
Makati Central Business District in general. Average occupancy rates at Hotel
Intercontinental Manila and Oakwood Premier Ayala Center, both at 75% in 2002,
declined to 66% and 69%, respectively. Partly cushioning the Company’s hotel
revenues, however, was Cebu City Marriott Hotel which posted an improved average
occupancy rate of 76% from 65% in the previous year, as well as higher room rates.
Compared to their respective markets, Ayala Land’s hotel portfolio still did better in
terms of occupancy. Makati hotels’ average occupancy rate was at 63% while occupancy
rates at Cebu hotels averaged at 66%.

Revenues from third-party clients of construction arm Makati Development Corporation
and property management arm Ayala Property Management Corporation contributed
P759 million or 5% to consolidated revenues. This represents an 18% decline year-on-
year as opportunities in the construction sector continued to be limited.

Financial Condition

During the year, Ayala Land pursued new strategic projects and investments, including
the acquisition of a controlling stake in Bonifacio Land Corporation (BLC) in April. This
assures the Company ample supply of prime lot inventory for future developments.
Given the Company’s continuing investments, total assets grew by 8% year-on-year to
P67.01 billion as of end-2003.

Meanwhile, stockholders’ equity leveled at P35.27 billion, slightly lower than previous
year’s level, primarily due to the special cash dividend of P0.26 per share paid to
stockholders in the fourth quarter. The increased dividend yield is part of the Company’s
continuing effort to reduce its capital base in tandem with its ongoing asset
rationalization program.

Ayala Land’s excellent financials and credit standing were reflected in the successful
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issuance of the P2.0 billion five-year bonds in November. The bond issue received the
highest possible rating of PRS Aaa from Philratings and found strong support from
investors. This borrowing, together with new bank loans, brought total borrowings to
P14.38 billion by end-2003. While this is higher than end-2002 level of P10.87 billion,
the Company’s bank debt-to-equity and net debt-to-equity ratios were still at comfortable
levels of 0.41:1 and 0.27:1, respectively. Ayala Land remained highly liquid with a
current ratio at 1.78:1. In addition to the sale of non-strategic assets, liquidity was
enhanced by sale of seasoned installment receivables to banks on a no-recourse basis.

In 2003, Ayala Land (parent company) disbursed P5.2 billion or 66% of the P7.9 billion
project and capital expenditures budget for the year. These disbursements included the
P2.6 billion investment in BLC. The rest were spent on residential building projects,
commercial centers, residential subdivision projects and office building improvements.

Key Performance Indicators

The table below sets forth the comparative key performance indicators of the Company
and its majority-owned subsidiaries:

End-2003 End-2002
Current ratio ' 1.78:1 2.00:1
Debt-to-equity ratio ~ 0.41:1 0.31:1
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.27:1 0.15:1

FY 2003 FY 2002
Return on assets 4.4% 4.0%
Return on equity ° 7.7% 6.9%

" Current assets / current liabilities

? Total interest-bearing debt (inclusive of bonds and CPs) / stockholders’ equity
7 Interest-bearing debt less cash & cash equivalents / stockholders’ equity

* Net income / total assets (at the beginning of the year)

> Net income / stockholders’ equity (at the beginning of the year)

There were no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation
that is material to the Company.

There were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements,
obligations and other relationships of the Company with unconsolidated entities

or other persons.

There were no disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial
disclosure.
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Material changes (/- 5% or more) in the financial statements

Income Statement items — 2003 versus 2002

18% increase in real estate revenues

Principally due to sales of new projects such as Ayala Hillside Estates, Plantazionne
Verdana Homes, One Legazpi Park, The Residences at Greenbelt (Laguna Tower), The
Columns and new mass housing projects; higher sales bookings at Ayala Westgrove
Heights and Ferndale Homes; lot sales at Madrigal Business Park and Laguna
Technopark in 2003; and higher rental revenues from shopping centers given new spaces
at Greenbelt 2 & 3 as well as escalation in basic rent.

66% increase in interest and other income
Mainly due to gain on sale of shares of a landholding company and higher interest
income from installment sales of mass housing projects.

27% increase in real estate cost and expenses
Mainly due to higher real estate revenues and change in revenue/product mix.

17% increase in general and administrative expenses

Primarily due to professional fees, higher payroll costs and ad & promo expenses; and
additional expenses from new subsidiaries such as Ayala Land Sales, Inc. and
Community Innovations, Inc.

118% increase in interest and other charges
Principally due to payment of unpaid balances in real estate property taxes, higher
consolidated debt and higher effective interest rate.

30% decrease in provision for income tax

Basically due to lower taxable income as a result of the higher general and administrative
expenses and interest and other charges.

273% increase in net earnings applicable to minority interest

Largely due to higher net income from Laguna Technopark, Inc.

Balance Sheet items — End-2003 versus End-2002

15% decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Mainly due to the investment in Bonifacio Land Corporation and special cash dividends;
partly offset by proceeds from the bond issuance and sale of non-strategic properties and
investments.

14% increase in current portion of accounts and notes receivables
Primarily due to the increase in real estate sales.
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21% increase in condominium and residential units for sale
Mainly due to the construction progress at new residential building projects such as One
Legazpi Park, The Residences at Greenbelt (Laguna Tower) and The Columns.

31% increase in deferred tax and other current assets
Due to higher input VAT and creditable withholding tax.

35% increase in non-current accounts and notes receivables
Largely due to increase in installment sales at various projects.

21% increase in investments

Primarily due to the investment in Bonifacio Land Corporation, additional construction
costs for Market! Market! and Greenbelt redevelopment, and acquisition of the former
Ayala Museum site from Ayala Corporation.

6% increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Primarily due to higher contractor’s payables and higher deferred VAT.

25% decline in loans payable
Principally due to short-term loan repayment.

79% decline in income tax payable
Mainly due to lower income subject to the 32% corporate income tax.

331% increase in current portion of long-term debt
Largely due to reclass of maturing principal amortization of long-term debt.

71% increase in current portion of estimated liability for land and property development
Primarily due to new sales at existing and new projects.

6% increase in other current liabilities
Mainly due to higher buyers’ deposits.

34% increase in long-term debt (net of current portion)
Principally due to bond issuance and new long-term loan availments.

12% increase in non-current liabilities and deposits
Largely due deposits from new tenants/merchants at Ayala Center.

68% increase in non-current portion of estimated liability for land and property

development
Primarily due to new sales at existing and new projects.

28



Liquidity and Capital Resources — 2004

The Company sourced its capital requirements through a combination of internally
generated cash, pre-selling, joint ventures, bank borrowings and STCP issuance. Ayala
Land’s fundamentals remained unchanged and its balance sheet continued to reflect
strength and stability.

Cashflow from existing operations and borrowings were used for ALI’s (consolidated)
project and capital expenditures aggregating P8.1 billion. Ending cash level stood at
P6.36 billion while current ratio was at 1.71:1.

Guided by prudent financing strategies, ALI kept its borrowings at low levels, placing

bank debt-to-equity ratio at a low level of 0.36:1. Total borrowings registered at P13.44
billion, the bulk of which is long-term and peso-denominated.

Factors which may have material impact in Company’s operations

Economic factors

The economic situation in the Philippines significantly affects the performance of the
Company’s businesses. For certain business lines, more particularly the residential
products, the Company is sensitive to changes in domestic interest and inflation rates.
Higher interest rates tend to discourage potential buyers of residential units as mortgages
become unaffordable to them. An inflationary environment will adversely affect the
Company, as well as the real estate industry, by increases in costs such as land
acquisition, labor and materials. Although the Company may pass on the additional costs
to buyers, there is no assurance that this will not significantly affect the Company’s sales.

Competition (Please refer to “Competition” section in Iltem 1.)

Project & Capital Expenditures (consolidated)

The Company’s project & capital expenditures for 2004 amounted to P8.1 billion, broken
down as follows:

Residential buildings/ townhouses 47%
Commercial centers/ office/ etc. 29%
Residential subdivisions 15%
Equity investments 9%

100%
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For 2005, the Company budgeted P13.6 billion* for project and capital expenditures,
broken down as follows:

Residential buildings/ townhouses 51%
Commercial centers/ office 26%
Residential subdivisions 20%
Equity investments 3%
100%

* Project and capital expenditures will be funded from pre-selling, internally-generated
funds, some borrowings and proceeds from the sale of non-core assets and installment
receivables.

Item 7. Financial Statements

The 2004 consolidated financial statements of the Company are incorporated herein in
the accompanying Index to Exhibits.

Separate significant accruals for payroll, taxes other than income taxes, interest and any
other material items are not shown as the present consolidation process/system covers
only major and/or condensed expense classifications (and without distinction for accruals
either).

Net foreign exchange loss arising from foreign exchange transactions charged to
operations was very minimal at 0.07% of total costs and expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

Item 8. Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters
Independent Public Accountants

In 2004, the principal accountants and external auditors of the Company was the
accounting firm of SyCip, Gorres, Velayo & Company (SGV & Co.).

Pursuant to Memorandum Circular No. 8, Series of 2003 (Rotation of External Auditors),
the Company has not engaged with Ms. Jessica D. Cabaluna, partner of SGV & Co., for
more than five years. Ms. Cabaluna was engaged by the Company since 2002 for the
examination of the Company’s financial statements.
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External Audit Fees and Services

Ayala Land and its subsidiaries paid its external auditors the following fees in the past
two years: (in P million; with VAT)

Audit & Audit-related Fees Tax Fees Other Fees
2004 6.5% - 1.1%*
2003 6.2% - 3 [ *x*

* Pertains to audit fees; no fees for other assurance and related services
** Pertains to fees paid for bank reconciliation services
**% Pertains to fees for business process review and audit seminar conducted

Under paragraph D.3.1 of the ALI Audit Committee Charter, the ALI Audit Committee
recommends to the Board and stockholders the appointment of the external auditor and
the fixing of audit fees. The Board and stockholders approve the Audit Committee’s
recommendation.

Tax consultancy services are secured from entities other than the appointed external
auditor.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

Ayala Land, Inc. adopted the following Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS)/ International Accounting Standards (IAS) which became effective in 2004:

o SFAS 12/IAS 12, Income Taxes

« SFAS 17/1AS 17, Leases

The adoption of SFAS 12/IAS 12 resulted in the reclassification of the current deferred
tax assets and liabilities to non-current deferred tax assets and liabilities, and in additional
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

The adoption of SFAS 17/IAS 17 had no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements but additional disclosures were made in the consolidated financial statements.

There were no disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure.
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PART IV - MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN SECURITY HOLDERS
Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant * (As of Dec. 31, 2004)

Write-ups below include positions currently held by the directors and executive officers,
as well as positions held during the past five years.

Board of Directors **

Fernando Zobel de Ayala Ramon R. del Rosario, Jr.***
Jaime Augusto Zobel de Ayala Il Delfin L. Lazaro

Jaime I. Ayala Leandro Y. Locsin, Jr.***
Nieves R. Confesor *** Mercedita S. Nolledo

All of Ayala Land’s Directors are Filipinos.

Fernando Zobel de Ayala, 44, has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of ALI
since 1999. He is also an Executive Managing Director, Co-Vice Chairman of the Board
of Directors and Member of the Executive Committee of Ayala Corporation. His other
significant positions include: Chairman of Manila Water Company, Inc., Roxas Land
Corporation, Ayala Hotels, Inc., AC International Finance Ltd., and Alabang Commercial
Corporation; Vice-Chairman of Ayala International Pte. Ltd.; Co-Vice Chairman and
Trustee of Ayala Foundation, Inc.; Director of the Bank of the Philippine Islands, Globe
Telecom, Inc., Integrated Microelectronics Inc. (IMI), and Habitat for Humanity
International. He graduated with B.A. Liberal Arts at Harvard College in 1982.

Jaime Augusto Zobel de Ayala II, 45, has served as Director and member of the
Executive Committee of ALI since 1988. He also serves as the Co-Vice Chairman of the
Board of Directors, Member of the Executive Committee and Management Committee
and President and CEO of Ayala Corporation; Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Globe Telecom, Inc., Bank of the Philippine Islands, Ayala International Pte. Ltd.,
Integrated Microelectronics, Inc., and Azalea Technology Investment, Inc. His other
significant positions include: Co-Vice Chairman and Trustee of Ayala Foundation, Inc.;
Member of the Board of Directors of Asia Pacific Advisory Committee to the New York
Stock Exchange, Inc., International Youth Foundation, and World Wildlife Fund;
Member of the Board of Trustees of Asian Institute of Management, AIM-Washington
Sycip Policy Center, Carlos P. Romulo Foundation for Peace and Development, and
Makati Business Club. He graduated with B.A. in Economics (Cum Laude) at Harvard
College in 1981 and took his MBA (with Distinction) at the Harvard Graduate School of
Business Administration in 1987.

None of the directors and members of the ALI’s management owns 2.0% or more of the

outstanding capital stock of the Company.

ok Term of Office of the Members of the Board of Directors commence on the date of their
election as Directors for a period of one year or until successors are elected or duly
qualified.

**%  Independent directors
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Jaime I. Ayala, 42, has served as Director of ALI since 2004. He also serves as
President and CEO of ALI. Concurrently, he is Managing Director of Ayala
Corporation. His other significant positions include: Chairman of the Board of Directors
of Cebu Holdings, Inc., Cebu Insular Hotel Co., Inc., Makati Development Corp., Laguna
Properties Holdings, Inc., Station Square East Commercial Corp., and Makati Property
Ventures, Inc.; Director of Ayala Greenfield Development Corporation, Aurora
Properties, Inc., Vesta Property Holdings, Inc., Roxas Land Corporation, Ayala Land
Sales, Inc., Community Innovations, Inc., Alabang Commercial Corp., Fort Bonifacio
Development Corporation, Bonifacio Land Corporation, Emerging City Holdings, Inc.,
Berkshire Holdings, Inc., Bonifacio Arts Foundation Inc., Ayala Hotels, Inc., Enjay
Hotels, Inc., Astoria Investment Ventures, Inc., myAyala.com Inc., Ayala Center
Association, Makati Parking Authority and World Wildlife Fund (WWF). Prior to
joining ALI he spent 19 years with McKinsey & Company in the US, Mexico, China,
and Southeast Asia. At McKinsey, he was a Director (senior partner) and played a
number of global and regional leadership roles, including President of McKinsey’s
Manila office. He earned his M.B.A. from Harvard School, graduating with honors in
1988. He completed his undergraduate work in 1984 at Princeton University, where he
graduated Magna Cum Laude in Economics, with a minor in Engineering.

Nieves R. Confesor, 54, has served as an Independent Director of ALI since 2003. A
member of the faculty of the Asian Institute of Management, she also served as Dean of
the Institute in 2002 —2004, bringing the institution forward into the community of
European and American accredited business schools. She presently serves as Chairman of
the Government Peace Panel in the negotiations with the Communist Party of the
Philippines-National Democratic Front- New People’s Army. She serves as an adviser,
external collaborator to the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank, the International
Labor Organization, and the ASEAN secretariat as well as private companies like the
Metropolitan Bank and Trust Corporation, Philippine National Oil Company, Philippine
National Coal Corporation; local and international organizations such as the Philippine
Agency for the Improvement of Community and Family, Inc. (PACAF), the Miriam
College Foundation, Philippine Youth for Business, the Operating Council of the Global
Alliance for Workers based in Washington D.C., USA; the International System for
National Agricultural Research. She also served as presidential adviser on Human
Resource Development and International Labor Affairs to former Philippine President
Fidel V. Ramos, with the personal rank of Ambassador of Extraordinary and
Plenipotentiary. She also served as the Philippines' first woman Secretary of Labor and
Employment during the Corazon C. Aquino and Fidel V. Ramos administrations. In
1992, in recognition of her excellent service in government, she was named one of the
Ten Outstanding Women in the Nation's Service (TOWNS) and received the Outstanding
Service Award by the Philippine Civil Service Commission. She holds a Master in Public
Policy and Administration from Harvard University in 1990 as an Edward S. Mason
Fellow; had her Master in Business Administration from the Graduate School of Business
of the Ateneo de Manila University in 1978; took special courses in Labor and
Employment and in Asian Studies at the University of the Philippines and in International
Economics, Negotiations, Women in Politics at Harvard University. She completed
Bachelor of Arts in Literary Studies (Magna Cum Laude and Class Valedictorian) at
Maryknoll College in 1971.
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Ramon R. del Rosario, Jr., 60, has served as an Independent Director of ALI since
1994. He is President of Philippine Investment Management (PHINMA), Inc., President
of Bacnotan Consolidated Industries, Inc., Chairman and CEO of AB Capital and
Investment Corporation, Chairman of United Pulp and Paper Co., Inc., Director of Trans-
Asia Oil & Energy Development Corporation, Roxas Holdings, Inc., and PSi
Technologies, Inc. He served as the Philippines’ Secretary of Finance in 1992-1993. He
graduated with degrees in BSC-Accounting and AB-Social Sciences (Magna cum Laude)
at De La Salle College, Manila in 1967 and earned his Masters in Business
Administration at Harvard Business School in 1969.

Delfin L. Lazaro, 59, has served as member of the Board of Directors of ALI since 1996.
He is also a Consultant and a member of the Management Committee of Ayala
Corporation; Director and Chairman of the Executive Committee of Globe Telecom, Inc.;
Director and President of Ayala Infrastructure Ventures, Inc. Formerly, Mr. Lazaro was
the President and CEO of Benguet Corporation and Secretary of the Department of
Energy of the Philippine government. He was named Management Man of the Year
1999 by the Management Association of the Philippines for his contribution to the
conceptualization and implementation of the Philippine Energy Development Plan and to
the passage of the law creating the Department of Energy. He was also cited for
stabilizing the power situation that helped the country achieve successively high growth
levels up to the Asian crisis in 1997. He graduated with BS Metallurgical Engineering at
University of the Philippines in 1967 and took his MBA (with Distinction) at Harvard
Graduate School of Business in 1971.

Leandro Y. Locsin, Jr., 42, has served as an Independent Director of ALI since 1994.
He also serves as Administrator and Design Consultant of Leandro V. Locsin Partners
Architects; Senior Vice President of C-J Yulo & Sons and Canlubang Sugar Estate;
Director of World Wildlife Fund, Phils., The Beacon School, De La Salle University —
Canlubang, Vesta Holdings Corp., The Asian Cultural Council Philippines and Museo
Pambata ng Maynila. He graduated with Bachelor of Arts, Double Major in Architecture
and Eastern Art History at Wesleyan University, Middletown, Connecticut, USA and had
his Masters in Architecture at Harvard University Graduate School of Design,
Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA in 1989.

Mercedita S. Nolledo, 63, has served as Director and Corporate Secretary of ALI since
1994. She also serves as Board member, Senior Managing Director and Corporate
Secretary of Ayala Corporation, and General Counsel of the Ayala Group of Companies.
Her other significant positions include: Director of Ayala Aon Risk Services, Inc., Honda
Cars Cebu, Inc., Honda Cars Makati, Inc., Isuzu Automotive Dealership, Inc., Isuzu
Cebu, Inc., Ayala Automotive Holdings, Inc., and Bank of the Philippine Islands;
Corporate Secretary and Member of the Board of Trustees of Ayala Foundation, Inc.
(AFI); Director and Treasurer of Aurora Properties Inc., and Vesta Property Holdings
Inc. She had her education at University of the Philippines and graduated Magna Cum
Laude and Class Valedictorian in Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and
Cum Laude and Class Valedictorian in Bachelor of Laws.
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Elected to the Board of Directors on February 14, 2005:

Aurelio R. Montinola, III, 53, is the President and CEO of Bank of the Philippine
Islands. His other affiliations include: Chairman of the Board of Directors of Amon
Trading Corporation; Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Republic Cement
Corporation; Vice Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Far Eastern University;
President and Trustee of Alliance Francaise de Manille; Regional Director of MasterCard
International; Member of the Board of Directors of Manila Water Company; Member of
the Board of Trustees of BPI Foundation, Inc.; and Director of the Bankers Association
of the Philippines. He graduated with BS Management Engineering at Ateneco de Manila
University in 1973 and had his MBA at Harvard Business School in 1977.

Resignation of Directors

Mr. Francisco H. Licuanan III, a member of the Board of Directors since 1988, retired
from Ayala Corporation/Ayala Land effective September 16, 2004. His resignation from
the Board of the Corporation is not due to any disagreement with the Corporation’s
operations, policies and practices.

To date, no director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election for the Board of

Directors due to any disagreement with the Corporation relative to the Corporation’s
operations, policies and practices.
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Management Committee Members / Key Officers (As of Dec. 31, 2004)

Jaime I. Ayala * President

Mercedita S. Nolledo* Corporate Secretary
Vincent Y. Tan Executive Vice President
Manuel J. Colayco, Jr. ** Senior Vice President
Tristan B. dela Rosa ** Senior Vice President
Miriam O. Katigbak Senior Vice President
Angela dV. Lacson Senior Vice President
Jaime E. Ysmael Senior Vice President & Chief Finance Officer
Jose Rene D. Almendras Vice President

Ma. Victoria E. Afionuevo Vice President

Dinna G. Bayangos *** Vice President

Augusto D. Bengzon Vice President & Treasurer
Bernard Vincent O. Dy **%* Vice President

Raul M. Irlanda Vice President

Ma. Cynthia H. Poblador Vice President

Emilio J. Tumbocon Vice President

*  Members of the Board
**  Resigned from the Company effective December 31, 2004
**% Member of the Management Committee effective January 1, 2005

All of the above Management Committee Members and Key Olfficers hold Filipino
citizenships, except for Mr. Dy who holds an American citizenship.

Vincent Y. Tan, 54, is Executive Vice-President, member of the Management Committee
and Head of the Planning Group of ALI. His other positions include: Chairman of the
Board of Laguna Technopark, Inc., CMPI Holdings, Inc. and CMPI Land, Inc.; Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Ayalaport, Inc.; President of ALInet.com, Inc.;
and Member of the Board of Directors of Ayala Greenfield Development Corporation,
Community Innovations, Inc., Station Square East Commercial Corporation, Aurora
Properties, Inc., Vesta Property Holdings, Inc., Ayalaport Makati, Inc., myAyala.com,
Inc., Metro Rail Transit Corporation, Metro Rail Transit Dev. Corp., Metro Rail Transit
Holdings II, Inc., MRT Holdings, Inc. and North Triangle Development Corporation. He
graduated with a degree of B.S. Management Engineering (Cum Laude) at the Ateneo de
Manila University in 1971 and earned his M.B.A. (Concentration in Management Science
and Finance) at the University of Chicago in 1973.

Manuel J. Colayco, 65, was Senior Vice-President and member of the Management
Committee of ALI. He was also Director and President of Laguna Properties Holdings,
Inc., Buklod Bahayan Realty & Development Corporation, Laguna Phenix Structures
Corporation and Director of First Communities Finance Corporation. He graduated with
a degree of A.B. Major in Mathematics and English at the University of Sto. Tomas and
was an undergraduate in Masters in Industrial Management at the University of the
Philippines. Mr. Colayco resigned from the Company effective December 31, 2004.
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Tristan B. de la Rosa, 53, joined ALI in September 2002 as Senior Vice President. He
headed both the Sales and Marketing Services Group and the Land & Community
Development Group. A member of the Management Committee of ALI, he was also
President of Ayala Land Sales, Inc. Prior to joining ALI, Mr. de la Rosa was Managing
Director of Wrigley Philippines, Inc. (1998-2002); and Managing Director and General
Manager, respectively, of Johnson & Johnson Hong Kong (1997-98) and Vietnam (1993-
96). He graduated as class valedictorian, with a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration and Marketing at the University of the Philippines. Mr. dela
Rosa resigned from the Company effective December 31, 2004.

Miriam O. Katigbak, 51, is Senior Vice-President, member of the Management
Committee and Head of the Commercial Centers Group of Ayala Land, Inc. (ALI). Her
other significant positions include: Director of Cebu Holdings, Inc. and Alabang
Commercial Corporation; President of Ayala Theaters Management, Inc., ALI-
Concepcion Industries, Inc., Station Square East Commercial Corp. and Five-Star
Cinema Corp.; Vice-President and Director of Leisure Allied Industries (Phils.); Board
member of Lagoon Development Corporation and Governor of Ayala Center
Association. She graduated with Bachelor of Science in Education, Major in
Mathematics at St. Scholastica's College. She took the Management Development
Program at Asian Institute of Management in 1993 and at University of Michigan in
1997.

Angela dV. Lacson, 57, joined ALI in July 1999. She is Senior Vice President and Head
of the Residential Buildings Group and Core Middle-Income Residential Group of ALI.
Her other significant positions include: President & Director of Community Innovations,
Inc.; General Manager of Roxas Land Corporation; and Director of Ayala Land, Sales,
Inc., Ayala Property Management Corporation, Makati Development Corporation and
Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc. Prior to joining ALI, she was Vice President and
Marketing Director of San Miguel Brewing Philippines (1998-1999), Marketing Director
of the San Miguel Food Group (1996-1997), VP and Division Head of J. Walter
Thompson (1995). She graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Liberal Arts, Major in
Mathematics and English Literature (Magna Cum Laude) at the Assumption College.

Jaime E. Ysmael, 44, is Senior Vice President, Chief Finance Officer and member of the
Management Committee of Ayala Land, Inc. Concurrently, he is Managing Director of
Ayala Corporation and Chief Operating Officer of Ayala Hotels, Inc. His other
significant positions include: Director and President of First Communities Realty, Inc.;
Director and Treasurer of Alinet.com, Cebu Insular Hotel Co., Inc., Community
Innovations, Inc., Enjay Hotels, Inc., Laguna Technopark, Inc. and Makati Property
Ventures, Inc.; Treasurer of Astoria Investment Ventures, Inc.; Director of Aurora
Properties, Inc., Alabang Commercial Corp., Laguna Phoenix Structures Corp., Makati
Theatres, Inc., Station Square East Commercial Corp., and Vesta Properties Holdings,
Inc.; and Chief Finance Officer of Roxas Land Corp. He graduated Summa Cum Laude
at the University of the East with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Business
Administration, Major in Accounting. He holds an M.B.A. degree (Major in Finance) at
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The Wharton School and an M.A. degree in International Studies at the School of Arts
and Sciences of the University of Pennsylvania under The Joseph H. Lauder Institute of
Management and International Studies.

Jose Rene D. Almendras, 44, is Vice President assigned to the Visayas-Mindanao group
and a member of the Management Committee of ALI. His other significant positions
include: President and Director of Cebu Holdings, Inc. and Cebu Property Ventures and
Development Corp. since May 2001. He is also the President of City Sports Club Cebu,
trustee of the Ramon Aboitiz Foundation, Inc., Director of JDA Agro-Industrial
Development Corp. Prior to joining CHI, he served as President and CEO of City
Savings Bank and First Vice President of Aboitiz Equity Ventures. He graduated
Business Management at Ateneo de Manila University and finished the Strategic
Business Economic Program at the University of Asia and the Pacific.

Ma. Victoria E. Afionuevo, 54, is Vice-President and Member of the Management
Committee of ALI. She also serves as Head of the Corporate Business Group and the
Leisure & Lifestyle Communities Group of ALI, as well as President of Laguna
Technopark, Inc. She graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Business
Administration, Major in Marketing (Cum Laude) at the University of the Philippines in
1971 and had her Masters in Business Administration at the University of the Philippines
in 1975. She was sent by Ayala Land, Inc. as a scholar to the Program for Management
Development, Harvard Business School, 1997 in Boston, Massachusetts, USA.

Dinna G. Bayangos, 40, is Vice President and member of the Management Committee of
ALI effective January 1, 2005. She is also the President of Laguna Properties Holdings,
Inc. Her other significant positions include: Director of Community Innovations, Inc.,
Makati Development Corp. and Cebu Holdings, Inc. Before she became President of
LPHI, she was an Assistant Vice President and Head of the Corporate Planning Division
and a Senior Division Manager at the Residential Buildings Group of ALI. She
graduated with a degree of A.B. Major in Economics and B.S.C. Major in Management
of Financial Institutions at De La Salle University and took her Masteral in Business
Management at the Asian Institute of Management.

Augusto D. Bengzon, 41, joined ALI in December 2004 as Vice President and Treasurer.
Prior to joining ALI, he was Vice President and Credit Officer in Global Relationship
Banking at Citibank N.A. where he spent sixteen years in various line management roles
covering Treasury, Portfolio Management, Structuring, Debt Syndication and
Relationship Management. He received his Bachelor of Science degree in Business
Management from the Ateneo de Manila University and is a graduate of the Philippine
Trust Institute. He was granted a full scholarship by the Asian Institute of Management
where he received his Masters in Business Management degree.

Bernard Vincent O. Dy, 41, is Vice President & member of the Management Committee
of Ayala Land, Inc. effective January 1, 2005 and currently heads the Land &
Community Development Group. His other significant positions include: Director of Fort
Bonifacio Development Group and Director of Lagoon Development Corporation. He
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graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from the
University of Notre Dame and took up his MBA and Masters in International Relations at
the University of Chicago.

Raul M. Irlanda, 49, is Vice-President, member of the Management Committee,
President and board member of Ayala Property Management Corporation. He is the first
and only Filipino Certified Facility Manager (CFM) by the International Facility
Management Association (IFMA). He is also Governor of Ayala Center Association,
Group Head of Ayala Security Force, Director and Vice-President of Tower One
Condominium Corporation, and Board Adviser of the College of Technology
Management at University of Makati. He graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Science
in Management/Finance from San Sebastian College and obtained his Master of Business
Administration major in Financial Management from De La Salle University.

Ma. Cynthia H. Poblador, 51, joined ALI in 1991. She is Vice-President, member of the
Management Committee and Head of the Legal Division of ALI. She graduated Cum
Laude from the University of the Philippines (UP) with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in
Political Science in 1974. In1978, she graduated Cum Laude from the UP College of
Law. She is currently the Corporate Secretary of Serendra, Inc. and Buendia Land
Holdings, Inc.

Emilio J. Tumbocon, 48, is Vice-President, member of the Management Committee and
Head of the Construction Group of ALI and concurrently, serves as President & Director
of Makati Development Corporation, an wholly owned construction subsidiary of ALI.
He is also the President of the Philippine Constructors Association, Inc. (PCA), Director
of the Construction Industry Authority of the Philippines (CIAP), Department of Trade &
Industry and Board Member of the International Federation of Asia & Western Pacific
Contractors’ Associations (IFAWPCA) and Asean Contractors Federation (ACF). He
graduated at the University of the Philippines with a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Civil Engineering (C.E. °79) and graduated in Masters in Business Administration (MBA
‘85 at the same university. He also took the 1987 Construction Executive Program at
Stanford University, Palo Alto, California, U.S.A., the Senior Business Executive
Program in 1991 at the University of Asia and the Pacific, and The Executive Program in
1997 at Darden Graduate School of Business Administration, University of Virginia,
Charlottesville, Virginia, U.S.A.

Significant Emplovyees

The Corporation considers its entire work force as significant employees. Everyone is
expected to work together as a team to achieve the Corporation’s goals and objectives.

Family Relationships

Fernando Zobel de Ayala, Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Jaime Augusto Zobel
de Ayala II, Vice Chairman, are brothers.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings (over the past 5 years)

None of the Directors or Executive Officers is involved in any material pending legal
proceedings in any court or administrative agency of the government.

a. None of them has been involved in any bankruptcy petition.

b. None of them has been convicted by final judgment in a criminal proceeding or being
subject to a pending criminal proceeding, both domestic and foreign.

c. None of them has been subject to any order, judgment or decree of any court of
competent jurisdiction (domestic or foreign) permanently or temporarily enjoining,
barring, suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business,
securities, commodities or banking activities.

d. None of them has been found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction
(in a civil action), the Commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or
foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self regulatory organization, to
have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation.

Item 10. Executive Compensation
Directors and Executive Officers
Directors. Atrticle IV Section 17 of the Company’s By-Laws provides:

“Section 17 — Each member of the Board of Directors who is neither an officer nor
consultant of the Corporation shall be entitled to receive a reasonable per diem in an
amount to be determined by the Board of Directors for his attendance in Board meetings.
Any additional compensation, other than per diems, to be given to members of the Board
of Directors shall be subject to stockholders' approval.”

During the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 2, 2003, the stockholders
ratified the resolution fixing the remuneration of non-executive directors at
P1,000,000.00 consisting of the following components:

Retainer Fee: P500,000.00
Per diem per Board meeting attended: P100,000.00

In addition, a non-executive director is entitled to a per diem of P20,000.00 per board
committee meeting actually attended.

Officers. The Company adopts a performance-based compensation scheme as incentive.
Total compensation paid to all senior personnel from Manager and up amounted to
P352.79 million in 2003 and P437.74 million in 2004. The projected total annual
compensation for the current year is P481.51 million.
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The total annual compensation of the President and top 10 officers of the Company
amounted to P91.4 million in 2003 and P92.12 million for 2004. The projected total
annual compensation for the current year is P101.33 million.

The total annual compensation paid to all senior personnel from Manager and up was all
paid in cash. The total annual compensation includes the basic salary and other variable
pay (performance bonus and other taxable income).

2005 * 2004 2003
N g Basic Pay Other Basic Pay Other Basic Pay Other
Name Principal Posistion Variable Variable Variable
Pay Pay Pay
Jaime I. Ayala President
Vincent Y. Tan Executive Vice
President
Tristan B. dela Rosa Senior Vice President
Miriam O. Katigbak Senior Vice President
Jaime E. Ysmael Senior Vice President
Angela DV. Lacson Senior Vice President
Jose Rene D. Almendras Vice President
Ma. Victoria E. Aflonuevo | Vice President
Emilio J. Tumbocon Vice President
Raul M. Irlanda Vice President
Ma. Cynthia H. Poblador Vice President
All above-named Officers P95.55Mn | P5.78 Mn | P86.86 Mn | P5.26 Mn | P85.99 Mn | P5.41 Mn
as a group
* Projected Annual Compensation
2005 * 2004 2003
Name Basic Pay Other Variable Basic Pay | Other Variable Basic Pay Other Variable
Pay Pay Pay
All Officers** as a Group P461.9 Mn P19.61 Mn P419.91 Mn P17.83 Mn P332.87 Mn P19.92 Mn

*  Projected Annual Compensation
**  Managers and up

The Company has no other arrangement with regard to the remuneration of its existing
directors and officers aside from the compensation received as herein stated.

None of the Directors, in their personal capacity, have been contracted and compensated
by the Company for services other than those provided as a Director.

Each executive officer executed an employment contract with the Company for an
indefinite period (the terms and conditions of which are in accordance with existing laws)
and is entitled to receive retirement benefits in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Company’s BIR-registered Employees’ Retirement Fund. There is no plan or
arrangement by which the Executive Officers will receive from the Company any form of
compensation in case of a change-in-control of the Company or change in the officers’
responsibilities following such change-in-control.
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Options Outstanding

The Company offered the Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) to the Company’s
officers since 1998. Of the above named officers, there were 4.16 million common
shares exercised for the year 2004 by the following officers, to wit:

Name No. of Shares Date of Grant Exercise Price Market Price at Date of Grant

Ma. Victoria E.Afionuevo Various Various Various

Raul M. Irlanda Various Various Various

Angela dV. Lacson Various Various Various

Emilio J. Tumbocon Various Various Various

Jaime E. Ysmael Various Various Various

All above-named Officers as 4,165,146 443 * 560 %

a group

* Average prices on the dates of grant

The Company has not adjusted nor amended the exercise price of the options previously
awarded to the above named directors and officers.

For other details on Stock Options, please refer to Note 17 (“Stock Option Plans”) of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the 2004 Audited Financial Statements
which is incorporated herein in the accompanying Index to Exhibits.
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Item 11.

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and

Management

(a) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners (of more than 5%) as
of December 31, 2004

Type of | Name, address of Record Name of Beneficial Owner Citizenship | No. of Shares | Percent

Class Owner and Relationship and Relationship with Record Held of Class
with Issuer Owner

Common | Ayala Corporation' Ayala Corporation” Filipino 6,731,199,095 | 62.468%
34/F Tower One Bldg.
Ayala Ave., Makati City

Common | PCD Nominee Corporation Hongkong and Shanghai Various 2,677,852,010 | 24.852%
(Non-Filipino)’ Banking Corporation (HSBC)
G/F MSE Bldg. and Standard Chartered Bank
Ayala Ave., Makati City (SCB)*

Common | PCD Nominee Corporation Hongkong and Shanghai Filipino 818,874,195 7.600%
(Filipino)® Banking Corporation (HSBC)
G/F MSE Bldg. and Standard Chartered Bank
Ayala Ave., Makati City (SCB)*

(b) Security Ownership of Directors and Management as of December 31, 2004

Type of Name of Beneficial Owner Amount and Nature of Citizenship | Percent

Class Beneficial Ownership of Class

Directors

Common Fernando Zobel de Ayala 559,400 (direct & indirect) | Filipino 0.00519%

Common Jaime Augusto Zobel de Ayala 11 10,000 (direct) Filipino 0.00009%

Common Jaime 1. Ayala 1 (direct) Filipino 0.00000%

Common Mercedita S. Nolledo 51,753  (direct) Filipino 0.00048%

Common Nieves R. Confesor 1 (direct) Filipino 0.00000%

Common Ramon R. del Rosario, Jr. 1 (direct) Filipino 0.00000%

Common Delfin L. Lazaro 1 (direct) Filipino 0.00000%

Common Leandro Y. Locsin, Jr. 1,422,885 (direct) Filipino 0.01320%

CEQO and Ten Most Highly Compensated Officers

Common Jaime I. Ayala 1 (direct) Filipino 0.00000%

Common Vincent Y. Tan 843,950 (direct) Filipino 0.00783%

Common Tristan B. dela Rosa 0 Filipino 0.00000%

Common Miriam O. Katigbak 153,672  (direct) Filipino 0.00143%

Common Jaime E. Ysmael 339,513 (direct & indirect) | Filipino 0.00315%

the Company.

voted.

The PCD is not related to the Company.

The Co-Vice Chairman of Ayala Corporation, Fernando Zobel de Ayala, is the Chairman of the Board of

The Board of Directors of Ayala Corporation has the power to decide how AC shares in ALI are to be

* HSBC and SCB are participants of PCD. The 1,744,349,655 and 627,376,581 shares beneficially owned
by HSBC and SCB, respectively, form part of the 3,496,726,205 shares registered in the name of PCD
Non-Filipino and Filipino. The clients of HSBC and SCB have the power to decide how the Company’s
shares are to be voted.
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Common Angela dV. Lacson 305,418 (direct) Filipino 0.00283%
Common Jose Rene D. Almendras 0 Filipino 0.00000%
Common Ma. Victoria E. Afionuevo 616,333 (direct & indirect) | Filipino 0.00572%
Common Emilio J. Tumbocon 219,799 (direct) Filipino 0.00204%
Common Raul M. Irlanda 150 (direct) Filipino 0.00000%
Common Ma. Cynthia H. Poblador 54,783 (direct) Filipino 0.00051%
Other Executive Officers

Common Dinna G. Bayangos 0 Filipino 0.00000%
Common Bernard Vincent O. Dy 0 American 0.00000%
All Directors and Officers as a Group 4,577,660 0.04248%

None of the members of the Company’s directors and management owns 2.0% or more
of the outstanding capital stock of the Company.

(c) Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more

Ayala Land knows of no persons holding more than 5% of common shares under a voting
trust or similar agreement.

(d) Changes in Control

No change of control in the Corporation has occurred since the beginning of its last fiscal
year.

Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Related Transactions

The Company, in its regular course of trade or business, enters into transactions with
principal stockholders, subsidiaries, affiliates and other related parties principally
consisting of advances and reimbursement of expenses, purchase and sale of land and
other assets, construction contracts, and development, management, underwriting,
marketing, and administrative service agreements. Sales and purchases of goods and
services to and from related parties are made at normal market prices. In addition, the
Company obtains borrowings from an affiliated commercial bank.

No transaction was undertaken or to be undertaken by the Company in which any
Director or Executive Officer, nominee for election as Director, or any member of their
immediate family was or to be involved or had or will have a direct or indirect material

interest.

No single Director or Executive Officer, nominee for election as Director, or any member
of their immediate family owns or holds more than 10% of the Company’s voting shares.

There were no transactions with promoters in the past five years.
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Please refer to Note 14 (“Related Party transactions”) of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of the 2004 Audited Financial Statements which is incorporated
herein in the accompanying Index to Exhibits.

Parent Company / Major Holders

As of December 31, 2004, Ayala Corporation holds or owns 62.47% of the total issued
and outstanding capital stock of the Company, while PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-
Filipino) holds or owns 24.85% and PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) holds 7.60%.

Ayala Corporation’s principal parent company, Mermac, Inc. does not hold or own any
share in the Company.

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation (HSBC) and Standard Chartered Bank
(SCB) are participants of PCD. The 1,744,349,655 and 627,376,581 shares beneficially
owned by HSBC and SCB, respectively, form part of the 3,496,726,205 shares registered
in the name of PCD Non-Filipino and Filipino. The clients of HSBC and SCB have the
power to decide how the Company’s shares are to be voted.
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PART V - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Item 13. Compliance with leading practice on Corporate Governance

The Company adopted the Manual of Corporate Governance and full compliance with the
same has been made since the adoption of the Manual, except for the following:

(1) Development of mechanisms to monitor the performance of the Board
(The Company is in the process of developing a mechanism to review the

performance of the Board)

The Company is taking further steps to enhance adherence to principles and practices of
good corporate governance.
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PART VI - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Item 14. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C
(a) Exhibits - See accompanying Index to Exhibits
The following exhibit is incorporated by reference in this report:

2004 Consolidated Financial Statements

The other exhibits, as indicated in the Index to Exhibits are either not applicable
to the Company or require no answer.

(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C

The following current reports have been reported by Ayala Land during the year 2004
through official disclosure letters dated:

February 3, 2004
ALI submitted its unaudited financial results for the year ended December 31, 2003.

March 24, 2004
ALI filed with the SEC a Registration Statement to renew its P1.0 billion STCPs at an
increased amount of P2.0 billion.

April 29, 2004
ALI has been issued a pre-effective order on its registration of the P2.0 billion STCPs by
the SEC.

May 14, 2004
ALI has been issued an Order of Registration and a Certificate of Permit to Sell P2.0
billion STCPs.

June 28, 2004

ALI Board approved the following appointments effective July 1, 2004:

- Mr. Jaime I. Ayala as President of ALI, replacing Mr. Francisco H. Licuanan III

- Mr. Jaime I. Ayala as member of the ALI Nomination Committee and Executive
Committee; and

- Mr. Jaime E. Ysmael as Treasurer, replacing Mrs. Mercedita S. Nolledo

July 27, 2004

ALI’s Board of Directors approved the declaration of a regular cash dividend of P0.03
per share corresponding to the first semester of 2004.
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December 7, 2004

ALI’s Board of Directors approved the declaration of a regular cash dividend of P0.03
per share corresponding to the second semester of 2004. ALI’s 2005 Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting was set at April 6, 2005.

December 23, 2004

ALI and Fil-Estate Group entered into collaborative agreements for the acquisition by
ALI of the minority interests of Fil-Estate Group in the North Triangle Depot
Commercial Corporation, and for the assignment by ALI of all of its interests in certain
companies owning developable properties in the Makati Central Business District.

(¢) Reports under SEC Form 17-C, as amended (during the last 6 months)

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Code and Section 141 of the

Corporation Code, this report is signed on behalf of taﬁ gssuer by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in Makati City on [APR 14 0 .

By:
J Vé/k/)/‘ /éﬂy(«g \//ZM—\
Jaime 1. Ayala U Mercedita S. Nolledo |
President / Chief Executive Officer Corporate Secretary
L |
Jaime E. Ysmael Ség’undina ¢/Laurel
Chief Finance Officer : Principal Accounting Officer

i

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this_APR 1 4 203 affiants exhibiting
to me their Community Tax Certificates, as follows:

Names C.T. Cert. No. Date of Issue Place of Issue
Jaime I. Ayala 14665883 January 19, 2005 Makati City
Mercedita S. Nolledo 18180266 February 15, 2005 Makati City
Jaime E. Ysmael 14699181 February 4, 2005 Makati City
Segundina J. Laurel 00185201 April 8, 2005 Pasig City

-

NGELI L. FERRER

NOTARY/PUBLIC FOR MAKATI CITY
APPT.#M-42 UNTIL 12-31-05/ROLL# 38376

PTR )8 1ITY
IBP LRN 02744/011-027NEG. 0CC.
Doc. No.1Z ; TOWER ONT & EXCHANGE PLAZA AYALA TRIA.
Page No. 40 ; AYALA AVE. MARATICITY, $2Z6 il M, PHILS.
Book No.Xili ;
Series of 2005.
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(8)
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(10)

(13)
(16)
(18)
(19)

(20)

21)

(29)

AYALA LAND, INC.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Form 17-A — Item 7

Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation,
or Succession

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including
Indentures

Voting Trust Agreement

Material Contracts

2004 Consolidated Financial Statements: Ayala Land, Inc. and
Subsidiaries (with notarized Statement of Management
Responsibility)

2004 Financial Statements of “significant” subsidiaries/affiliates
which are not consolidated

Letter re: Change in Certifying Accountant

Report Furnished to Security Holders

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Published Report Regarding Matters Submitted to Vote
of Security Holders

Consent of Experts and Independent Counsel
Power of Attorney

Additional Exhibits

n.a. Not applicable or require no answer.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

Attached

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.
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AYALA LAND, INC. - SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES

(As of December 31, 2004)

Subsidiaries
Laguna Properties Holdings, Inc.

Buklod Bahayan Realty and Devt. Corp.

First Communities Finance Corporation
Laguna Phenix Structures Corporation.
Makati Development Corporation

MG Construction Ventures Holdings, Inc.

Community Innovations, Inc.
Serendra, Inc.

Ayala Land Sales, Inc.

Ayala Property Management Corporation

Ayala Theatres Management, Inc.
Alabang Theatres Management Corp.

Five Star Cinema, Inc.

Ayala Infrastructure Ventures, Inc.*
MRT Holdings, Inc.

Metro Rail Transit Corp. Ltd.
Amorsedia Development Corporation
OLC Development Corporation

Ayala Greenfield Development Corp.

HLC Development Corporation
Red Creek Properties, Inc.
Crimson Field Enterprises, Inc.
Streamwood Property, Inc.
Piedmont Property Ventures, Inc.
Stonehaven Land, Inc.
Buendia Landholdings, Inc.
Bridgebury Realty Corporation
Oxbury Realty Corporation
Food Court Company, Inc.
ALInet.com, Inc.

MyAyala.com, Inc.

Ayalaport, Inc.

Ayalaport Makati, Inc.

Station Square East Commercial Corp.
Vesta Property Holdings, Inc.
Aurora Properties, Inc.
Ceci Realty, Inc.
Laguna Technopark, Inc.
Ayala Realty Development Corp.
CMPI Holdings, Inc.

CMPI Land, Inc.
Ayala Hotels, Inc.

Enjay Hotels, Inc.

Cebu Insular Hotel Company, Inc.

Makati Property Ventures, Inc.
Roxas Land Corporation
ALI-CII Development Corporation
Leisure and Allied Industries Phils., Inc.
Serendra, Inc.

Ownership (%)

By ALI By the Subs.

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0
100.0
100.0

100.0
100.0

100.0

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

72.2
70.0
70.0
62.0
61.0
65.0
60.0

50.0

50.0
50.0
50.0
28.1

100.0
100.0
50.0

66.0

38.9

100.0

18.6
84.9

100.0
50.0
100.0

50.0
50.0
62.0

60.0

100.0
62.9
60.0

Nature of Business

Mass housing development
Socialized housing development
Financing company
Pre-fabricated house manufacturing
Construction company
Construction holding company
Residential property development
Residential property development
Real estate broker company
Property management

Theatre management

Theatre management

Theatre management

Holding company

Holding Company

Rail transportation development
Land holding company

Land holding company

Property development

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Land holding company

Food court operations

Holding company

Lifestyle and entertainment portal
Holding company

Internet data center development
Shopping center development/operations
Mixed-use development
Mixed-use development

Property development

Industrial estate development
Property development

Holding company

Land holding company

Hotel holding company

Hotel operations

Hotel operations

Serviced apartment operations
Property development

Shopping center development/operations
Family entertainment center operation/management
Residential property development

All of the above subsidiaries are incorporated in the Philippines.
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AYALA LAND, INC. - SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
(As of December 31, 2004)

Ownership (%) Nature of Business
Affiliates By ALI By the Affiliate
Alabang Commercial Corporation 50.0 Shopping center development/operations
Cebu Holdings, Inc. 47.2 Mixed-use development
Cebu Property Ventures & Devt. Corp. 8.0 76.0 Mixed-use development
Cebu Leisure Company, Inc. 100.0 Entertainment facilities management
CBP Theatre Management Inc. 100.0 Theatre management
Cebu Insular Hotel Company, Inc. 37.1 Hotel operations
Lagoon Development Corporation 30.0 Shopping center development/operations
Emerging City Holdings, Inc. 50.0 Holding company
Columbus Holdings, Inc. 70.0 Holding company
Bonifacio Land Corp.** 50.4 Property development
Fort Bonifacio Devt. Corp.*** 55.0 Property development
Berkshires Holdings, Inc. 50.0 Holding company
Columbus Holdings, Inc. 30.0 Holding company
Bonifacio Land Corp.** 50.4 Property development
Fort Bonifacio Devt. Corp.*** 55.0 Property development
Regent Time International Limited 100.0 Holding company
Bonifacio Land Corp.** 3.9 Property development
North Triangle Depot Commercial Corp. 49.0 Shopping center development/operations

*  Renamed Astoria Investment Ventures, Inc. in February 2005

**  ALI’s effective ownership in Bonifacio Land Corporation is 32.1%
**% ALL’s effective ownership in Fort Bonifacio Development Corporation is 17.6%

All of the above affiliates, except for Regent Time International Ltd., are incorporated in the Philippines.
Regent is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
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AYALA LAND, INC.

INDEX TO SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES
Form 17-A, Item 7

Supplementary Schedules

Report of Independent Public Accountants on Supplementary Schedules

A.

B.

a

ASm@ED o QTmmUg

Marketable Securities - (Current Marketable Equity Securities and
Other Short-Term Cash Investments)

Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related
Parties and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)
Non-Current Marketable Equity Securities, Other Long-Term
Investments in Stocks, and Other Investments

. Indebtedness of Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Related Parties

Intangible Assets - Other Assets
Long-Term Debt

. Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-Term Loans from

Related Companies)

. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

Capital Stock
Property, Plant and Equipment

. Accumulated Depreciation

Page No.
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E” SG V & C O #SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. ‘ ®Phone: (632) 891-0307

6760 Ayala Avenue Fax:  (632) 819-0872
1226 Makati City www.sgv.com.ph
Philippines )

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001
. SEC Accreditation No. 0012-F

Report of Independent Auditors
On Supplementary Schedules

Ayala Land, Inc.
Tower One, Ayala Triangle
Ayala Avenue, Makati City

We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Philippines, the
consolidated financial statements of Ayala Land, Inc. and Subsidiaries included in this Form 17-A and
have issued our report thereon dated February 14, 2005. Our audits were made for the purpose of
forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The schedules listed in the
Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s
management and are presented for purposes of complying with the Securities Regulation Code Rules
68 and 68.1 and are not part of the basic financial statements. These schedules have been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly
state in all material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole.

|

Jes:e g Cabaluna ;/.,&7..- &

Partner

CPA Certificate No. 36317

SEC Accreditation No. 0069-A

Tax Identification No. 102-082-365

PTR No. 1195834, January 3, 2005, Makati City

February 14, 2005

SGV & Co is a member practice of Emst & Young Global

TR
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE A - MARKETABLE SECURITIES
(Current Marketable Equity Securities and Other Short-Term Cash Investments)

NUMBER OF SHARE VALUED BASED ON INCOME
OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNT IN THE MARKET QUOTATION RECEIVED &
NAME OF ISSUING ENTITY & ASSOCIATION OF EACH ISSUE AMOUNT BALANCE SHEET AT BALANCE SHEED DATE ACCRUED
Short term Investment
BPI
Treasury Bills (0) 6,852,116
Special Savings Account 3,922,501,146 91,873,328
Commercial Paper 0 0
Repurchased Bills (0) 0
Time Deposits 1,201,517 0
Others 17,590,668 944,823
(Basis will be schedule from Treasury
or from your financial institution)
Others Banks
Treasury Bills 1 81,301,787
Special Savings Account 1,441,188,996 86,971,119
Commercial Paper 0 0
Repurchased Bills 18,544,633 308,067
Time Deposits 221,950,585 1,536,914
Others 17,462,661 291,470
(Basis will be schedule from Treasury
or from your financial institution)
5,640,440,206 270,079,624
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE B - AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, RELATED PARTIES
AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS (OTHER THAN RELATED PARTIES)

BEGINNING BALANCE ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS ENDING BALANCE ENDING BALANCE
NOTES ACCOUNTS NOTES ACCOUNTS NOTES ACCOUNTS ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE NOTES RECEIVABLE
N AME RECEIVABLE RECEIVABLE RECEIVABLE RECEIVABLE RECEIVABLE RECEIVABLE CURRENT NON-CURRENT CURRENT NON-CURRENT TOTALS
[Employees 196,393,173 22,223,561 141,097,321 82,787,061 151,616,092 82,969,209 10,723,946 11,317,467 51,559,884 134,314,518 207,915,815
196,393,173 22,223,561 141,097,321 82,787,061 151,616,092 82,969,209 10,723,946 11,317,467 51,559,884 134,314,518 207,915,815

Note:

The Company keeps the information on the name and designation of the debtors, and other details of the notes receivables confidential. There is no risk of loss on these advances as these are collateralized.
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule C - (NONCURRENT MARKETABLE EQUITY SECURITIES,
OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS IN STOCK, AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

BEGINNING BALANCE ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS ENDING BALANCE Dividends
Equity in Received/accrued fr
Earnings (Losses) Distribution of % of Investments Not
NAME OF COMPANY Number of Amount in of Investees Others Earnings by Others Cost Number of Effective Amount in Accounted for by
Shares Pesos for the period (Cost & equity adj) Investees (& equity adj) Shares Ownership Pesos the Equity Method
Makati Development Corp.
Alabang Country Club 2 140,000 2 140,000
Cebu Holdings Inc. 1 978,500 1 978,500
Philippine Long Distance Co. 1,250 92,900 1,250 92,900
Meralco 18,739 187,390 18,739 187,390
Samar Joint Ventures Inc 0 0
Lima Joint Ventures Corp. 0 0
Orchard Golf & Country Club 1] 590,000 1 590,000
Riviera Golf & Country Club 1 581,000 1 581,000 2,569,790
Ayala Property Mgmt Corp.
Cebu Holdings Inc. 584,640 1,877,279 584,640 1,877,279
Meralco 58,803 46,000 58,803 46,000
Philippine Long Distance Co. 300 4,000 300 4,000 1,927,279
Laguna Properties Holdings Inc.
Cebu Holdings Inc. 1,000,000 3,000,000 1,000,000 3,000,000
LPHI Sales Corp. 3,000,000 3,000,000
Alabang Country Club 1 841,700 1 841,700
Philippine Long Distance Co. 0 23,700 0 5,700 0 18,000
Meralco 1,464,365 14,643,653 14,076,845 2,872,050 28,720,498 35,580,198
Ayala Theatres Mgmt. Inc.
Theatre Consultants Inc. 0 0 0
Ayala Hotels Inc.
The Penisula Manila 5,088,390 57,371,055 5,088,390 57,371,055
Philippine Hoteliers Inc. 33,615 5,674,269 0 33,615 5,674,269
Philippine Long Distance Co. 28,800 287,500 28,800 287,500
Alabang Country Club 1 140,000 1 140,000
Others investment of Enjay Inc. 0 303,244 0 303,244 63,776,068
0
Laguna Technopark Inc.
Alabang Country Club 1 1,162,000 1 1,162,000
Philippine Long Distance Co. 7,250; 72,500 0 30,000 4,250 42,500
Meralco 59,837 598,373 0 0 4,251 598,373
Sta Elena Golf Club 2] 3,500,000 2 3,500,000 5,302,873
Alinet.Com
MyAyala.Com 25,000,000 4,962,388 2,336,039 25,000,000 2,626,349
Ayala Port Inc. 0 0 10,655,853 0 10,655,853
Ayala Port Makati Inc. 400,000 0 400,000 13,682,202
Ayala Infrastructure Venture Inc.
MRT Holdings Inc. 4,278,512 855,702,328 4,278,512 855,702,328
Amorsedia Dev't Corporation
Meralco 428,645 4,286,450 5,803,060 1,008,951 10,089,510
Studio Ventures Inc
PLDT 1,000 14,000 1,000 14,000
Ayala Land Inc., 0
Cebu Holdings Inc 907,350,948 1,476,103,069 35,458,490 907,350,948 47.00% 1,511,561,559
Lagoon Development Corp. 442,500 77,717,508 (7,299,004) 442,500 30.00%) 70,418,504
Pilipinas Makro Inc. 759,640 1,125,720,103 30,334,360 396,368,560 759,685,903 0 (0)
Alabang Comm. Corp. 533,504 444,667,332 64,819,669 19,034,881 18,750,000 158,504 50.00%) 471,702,120
Cebu Property Ventures Dev't Corp. 73,341,995 139,979,756 73,341,995 139,979,756
Cebu City Sports Club 286 172,640,958 573,551 6,882,696 275 166,331,813
Batangas Assets Corp. 27,500,000 27,500,000 27,500,000 27,500,000
Ayala Realty Dev't Corp. 500,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 0 0
Subic Bay Yacth Club 5] 2,500,001 12,000,000 2,420,000 24 12,080,001
Tagatay Highlands Inc. 1 1,696,000 1 1,696,000
Alabang Country Club 11 12,595,392 11 12,595,392
Ayala Tower Corporation 2,609 1,158,997 2,609 1,158,997
Meralco 1,115,735 11,223,927 13,971,390 3,258,377 25,195,317
Capitol Hills Inc. 253,772,920 253,772,920
North Triangle Depot Comm. Corp 302,337,852 712,545,931 16.00% 1,014,883,784
Boniacio Land Corp. 378,531,298 12,033,449 0 390,564,747
Emerging City Holdings Inc. 1,564,574,890 101,740,352 1,419,583 1,667,734,825
Berkshires Holdings Inc. 670,527,536 43,603,564 608,393 714,739,492
0
0
0
0
- 7,625,727,768 - 7,470,559,474
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE D - INDEBTEDNESS OF UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED PARTIES

NAME OF RELATED PARTIES

BALANCE AT
BEGINNING OF
PERIOD

BALANCE AT
END OF
PERIOD

NOT APPLICABLE
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE E - OTHER ASSETS

OTHER
CHARGED TO CHANGES

BEGINNING ADDITIONS COSTS & CHARGED TO ADDITIONS/ ENDING

DESCRIPTION BALANCE AT COST EXPENSES OTHER ACCTS. (DEDUCTIONS) BALANCE
Deferred charges 201,390,448 317,297,721 518,688,169
Sundry receivables and deposits 111,213,468 0 15,562,554 126,776,022
Others 444,900,099 200,120,967 645,021,066
757,504,015 0 0 0 532,981,242 1,290,485,257
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AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE F - LONG-TERM DEBT

TITLE OF ISSUE & TYPE OF
OBLIGATION

AMOUNT AUTHORIZED
BY INDENTURE

CURRENT PORTION OF
LONG-TERM DEBT

LONG-TERM DEBT

Interest Rate

Amount & No. of Periodic Installment

Maturity Date

Ayala Land, Inc.

Bonds (Various bondholders)

3,000,000,000

3,000,000,000

MART1+2.00%

3,000,000,000 [bullet payment at maturity

Apr 18 & 25, 2007

Bonds (Various bondholders) 1,000,000,000 - 1,000,000,000 MART1+1.25% 1,000,000,000 [bullet payment at maturity Nov. 28, 2008
Bonds (Various bondholders) 1,000,000,000 - 1,000,000,000 10.75% 1,000,000,000 |bullet payment at maturity Nov. 28, 2008
;:fk’\_‘;{i:' Trust and Deutsche 50,000,000 50,000,000 - 11.88% 50,000,000 [bullet payment at maturity Feb. 21, 2005
FXCNs (Deutsche Bank-Trust) 60,000,000 - 60,000,000 13.25% 60,000,000 |bullet payment at maturity Feb. 20, 2007
FXCNs (First Guarantee Life
Assurance, ING Bank-Trust, 370,000,000 - 370,000,000 14.50% 370,000,000 |bullet payment at maturity Feb. 20, 2009
Security Bank and PS Bank)
FXCNs (The Philippine American
Life & General Insurance Co. and 580,000,000 - 580,000,000 14.88% 580,000,000 |bullet payment at maturity Feb. 20, 2012
Sunlife of Canada)
[Bank Loan (Land Bank) 500,000,000 166,666,667 166,666,667 91dTBill+1.50% 41,666,667 [12 quarterly payments Oct. 2, 2006
10.00% 255,000,000 [30% balloon payt at end of 2nd yr
Bank Loan (BPI-AMTG) 850,000,000 255,000,000 595,000,000 11.40% 595,000,000 |70% balloon payt at maturit Jan. 20, 2006
o, 6,250,000 |12 quarterly payments
Bank Loan (EPCIB) 500,000,000 12,500,000 487,500,000 MART1+1.50% 425,000,000 |85% balloon payt at maturi Sept. 26, 2008
Subsidiaries
Bank Loan (BDO and China Bank) 00,000,000 7 077 230,769,4: 11.93% 9,230,769 |20 quarterly payments Oct. 26, 2008
Bank Loan (Land Bank) 00,000,000 166,666,667 33, 3. 91dTBill+1.50% 41,666,667 |12 quarterly payments Oct. 18, 2007
Bank Loan (iBank) 00,000,000 51,666,667 0: 91dTBill+2.50% 25, 333 |6 semi-annual payments Jul. 30, 2007
|Bank Loan (BPI Family Bank) 53,571,429 508 , 4 12.00% 1,984,127 [27 quarterly payments Aug., 29, 2010
Bank Loan (BPJ, 50,000,000 3 6,666,66' 91dTBIll+1.75% 3, 33 [15 quarterly payments Nov. 29, 2007
Bank Loan (BPJ) 00,000,000 6,666,667 3,333,333 MART1+1.75% 3,333,333 |15 quarterly payments ept. 16, 2008
Bank Loan (DEG) (Php equiv) 450,728,000 |(Php equiv) 34,228,740 - 8.60% approx. (Php equiv) 32,114,370 [14 semi-annual payts ept. 15, 2005
Bank Loan (DEG) (Php equiv) 1,126,820,000 |(Php equiv) 161,135,260 |(Php equiv) 482,278,960.00 8.55% approx. (Php equiv) 80,567,630 |14 semi-annual payts ept. 15, 2008
116,029,067 (4 quarterly payments
174,043,600 |4 quarterly payments
Bank Loan (Security Bank, Banco 58,014,533 1,392,348,800 116,029,067 |2 quarterly payments Jun. 19, 2009
. P T e 290,072,667 |4 quarterly payments o
de Oro, China Bank, iBank and 2,000,000,000 MART1+2.50% ool (S duarery pay
Metrobank) 101,525,433 [1 quarter payment _
652,663,500 [balloon payt at maturity
140,514,400 (15 quarterly payments
- 450,366,667 309,852,267 [balloon payt at maturity Sept. 21, 2011

TOTAL

1,110,738,118

10,389,295,610
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE G - INDEBTEDNESS TO RELATED PARTIES (LONG TERM LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES)

BALANCE AT BALANCE AT
BEGINNING OF END OF
NAME OF AFFILIATE PERIOD PERIOD

NOT APPLICABLE
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE H - GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ISSUERS

NAME OF ISSUING ENTITY OF
SECURITIES GUARANTEED BY THE COMPANY
FOR W/C THIS STATEMENT IS FILED

L

TITLE OF ISSUE OF
EACH CLASS OF
ECURITIES GUARANTEEL

TOTAL AMOUNT
GUARANTEED
& OUTSTANDING

AMOUNT OWNED BY
PERSON FOR W/C
STATEMENT IS FILED

NAME
OF
GUARANTEE

NOT APPLICABLE
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE I - CAPITAL STOCK

Title of Issue

No. of Shares Authorized

Common Stock

12,000,000,000

No. of Shares
Issued & Outstanding

Issued 10,774,188,211
Subscribed 1,181,300
Total 10,775,369,511
Less: Treasury Shares 24,081
Issued & Outstanding 10,775,345,430

No. of Shares Reserved for Options
Warrants, Conversion & Other Rights

300,000,000
(2.5% of authorized)

AC

AC Int'l Finance Ltd

No. of Shares Held by
Related Parties

6,731,199,095
113,782,150

6,844,981,245

No. of Shares Held by Directors,
Officers and Employees*

4,577,660

* The security ownership of Directors and Management is limited to shares owned by the Directors and Management Committee Members of ALL. Shareholdings of other officers and employees
can not be ascertained as the Company does not monitor all trading transactions of all employees.
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE J. - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

OTHER
CHARGES-

BEGINNING ADDITIONS ADDITIONS ENDING

CLASSIFICATION BALANCE AT COST RETIREMENTS (DEDUCTIONS) BALANCE
Land and Improvements 347,274,451 33,285 347,307,736
Building Imrpovement 379,320,733 7,632,565 386,953,298
Machinery and Equipment 952,485,326 157,446,725 27,001,730 1,082,930,321
Transportation 252,298,491 61,886,683 41,447,168 272,738,006
Officer Furnitures & Fixtures 139,581,205 28,527,234 101,181 168,007,258
Leasehold Improvements 193,971,836 30,550,990 45,311,473 179,211,353
Computer Equipments 441,815,821 38,224,597 13,068,686 466,971,732
Others 33,775,071 4,926,329 101,015 38,600,385
2,740,522,934 329,228,408 127,031,253 2,942,720,089
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AYALA LAND INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE K.- ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

ADDITIONS OTHER
CHARGED TO CHARGES-
BEGINNING COSTS & ADDITIONS ENDING
DESCRIPTION BALANCE EXPENSES RETIREMENTS (DEDUCTIONS) BALANCE
Land and Improvements 2,808,035 8,159,355 10,967,390
Building Imrpovement 84,218,282 10,643,114 94,861,396
Machinery and Equipment 463,516,808 97,570,025 25,075,115 536,011,718
Trasnportation 153,007,607 48,831,796 36,843,381 164,996,022
Officer Furnitures & Fixtures 104,900,509 17,912,734 16,782 (53,091) 122,743,370
Leasehold Improvements 99,355,473 21,531,057 30,833,003 90,053,527
Computer Equipments 299,627,668 105,439,451 5,128,550 399,938,569
Others 18,566,235 4,033,426 35,355 22,564,306
1,226,000,617 314,120,958 97,932,186 (53,091) 1,442,136,298
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" STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
’ FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Ayala Land, Inc. is responsible for all information and representations contained in the
consolidated balance sheets of Ayala Land, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the period ended
December 31, 2004,  The consohdated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the Philippines and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed judgment of
management with an appropriate consideration to materiality.

in this regard. management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal
controls to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or
disposition and liabilities are recognized. The management likewise discloses to the Company’s audit committee and its
external auditor: (i) all significant deficiencies in the design or operauon of internal controls that could adversely affect its ability
to record, process, and report financial data; (i) material weaknesses in the internal controls; and (jii) any fraud that involves
management or other employees who exercise significant roles in internal controls.

The Board of Directors reviews the consolidated financial statements before such statements are approved and
submitted to the stockholders of the Company.

*

SyCip Gorres'Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has examined the consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the
Philippines and has expréssed their opinion on the faimess of presentation upon completion of such examination, in their report
lo the Board of Dlrectors and stockholders. .

-3

JAIME 1. AYALA
President

LVN,ZLY nMV

JAIME E. YSMAEL
Chief Finante Officer

.~ SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _FE B 2 \ ZOQ%akan City. affiants exhibiting to me their

respccnve Community Tax Certificates, to wit:

Name CTC No.
Jaime 1. Ayala 14665883
Jaime E. Ysmael 14699181

Doc.No. /20 5
Page No  Jf ;
BookNo. X
Series of 2005.

Date & Place of Issue
19 January 2005 ~ Makati City
02 February 2005 — Makati City

Ia:L'Pu a{ ham' Clt‘
TiN: 132-783-308
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Report af Independent Auditors

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Ayala Land, Tne.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ayala Land, Inc. and Subsidiaries
a5 of Decemnber 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statemunls of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the thres years in the period ended December 31,
2004, These financial statements are the responsibilily ol the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these {inancial statemenls based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with suditing standards generally accepted in the Philippines.
Those standards require that we plan and pe fonn the audit o olilain reasongble assurance abour
whether the financial statements are free of malerial misstalement. An audit ineludes examining, on a
lest basis, evidence supporting the amounts xnd disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used snd significant cstimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentalion. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinien, the consolidated finaneial statements referred (o above present fairly, m all material
respects, the financial position of Ayala Land, Inc, and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the results of their operatians and their cash Jows [or cach of the three years m the peried
ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with secounting principles generally accepted in the
Philippines.

% g filins | 0.
Jessie D, Cabaluna
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 36317
STEC Accreditation Mo, DOGD-A
Tax Identification No. 102-082-365
PTE Mo, 1195834, January 3, 2005, Makati Cily

February 14, 2005

SOV B e es o member praclice of Emist & Young Global
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AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{Amounts in Thousands)

December 31

i 2004 203
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash cquivalents (Mol 3) 0,300,157 B854 920
Accounts and notes recetvable - net (Motes 4 and 14) 7,451,087 4,506,321
Subdivision land for sale 3,103,148 3,884,117
Condominium aned residential units for sale 2,500,011 3,263,767
Dther current assets (Mote 3) 1,054,097 580,214
Total Current Assets 20.868,570 17,089,359
MNoncurrent Assels
Moncurrem accounts and notes receivahie (Notes 4 and |4) 6,444 706 5,438 708
Land and improvements (Nate ) 17308817 19,065,290
[nvestments - nel (Noles 6, 2, 11 and 27) 25,935,443 22,712,299
Property and equipmers - net (Note 7) 1,500,584 1,514,522
Deferred tax assets (Mote 13) G4uA4TH B3t 8214
Oiher noneurrent assels 641,007 15,070
Tolal Moncurrent Assels - £2.480.035 49,822,713
e - F73.348.605  POT012,052
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current Linbilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note &) B5,738,741 B4 023,475
Short-lerm debt (Mote 9) 1,936,750 1,437,000
Income tax payable 165,869 112,507
Current portion of;
Long-term debt (Note 9) 1,110,734 1,335,993
Lstimated liability for land and properly development 3,043,024 2,445,702
Other current liabilities 194,000 249,820
Total Corrent Liabilities 12,189,124 624 4040
Mongurrent Linbilities
Long-term debt - net of cumrent partion {Note 93 10,389,245 11,588,299
Drefierred tax liabilities (Note 13) 930,559 784,052
Noncwrent Habilities ind deposits (TMole 107} 3,117,710 2,070,732
Estimated liability for land and property development -
nel of eurrent portion 2,225,086 1228 484
Total Nonowrrent Liabilities 16.062.656 16,271,367
Tatul Linkilitics 28,851,750 15,836,066
Minority Interest in Corsolidated Subsidiaries 6,771.370 5,842,715
Stockholders® Equity (Iotes L1 and |7)
Paid-up capirtal 14,368,670 14,278,780
Retained Earnings 23357342 20,995 (048
Treasury Stock {557) {337}
Total Stackhalders’ Equity 37725455 35,273 271
P73,348,605 _ P67.012,052

See aocompanying Noles fo Consolidzied Flnancial Statemens.

RO
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AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARTES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOMT

{Amounts in Thonsands, Execept Earnings Per Share)

Years Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
REVENUE
Renl estate [MNotes 14 and 21 £14.4%4, 3045 11,602,680 RO E60.057
Hotel operations 1,549,217 1,282,325 1,208,957
Equity in net eamings of Inveslees, interest, fees,
investment and other income (Motes Gand 14 2,083,068 1,738,927 1,045,119
= 18,126,791 14,623,932 12,214,133
COSTE AMD EXTPENSES
Real vstate {Notes 17 and 14} 9,341,652 8,910,722 5,458,797
Hotel operations (Nole 12 1,153 940 1,088 433 1,080,195
General and adminisrarve cxpenses (Nares 12 and 14) 2.100,207 L540,510 313,540
lntercst and other charges {Mares 9 und 12} 1,327,665 1.317,4%3 625,130
Provision i income tax {Mate 13 1,222 334 705,102 1125278
15,175,999 11,830,260 9.672,041)
NCOME BEFORE NET EARNINGS (1.055)
AFPPLICABLE TO MINORITY INTERESY 2,050,792 £,7893,872 2,541,193
NET EARNINGS (LOSS) APPLICABLE TD
MINORITY INTEREST 137.650) 84,517 22,678
NET INCOME P1O0#R4T2 L7095 B2.518.515
—— =
Earnings Per Share Mote 16)
Rasie BO.2% B0 25 Br2g
Driluted 0.28 0.23 .24

Sz avcompanying Notes to Consoiduted irancial Siqrenensy,

AR
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AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES

IN STOCKHOLDERS? EQUITY

(Amounts in Thousands, Except Par Value and Cash Dividends Per Share)

Tears Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
CAPITAL 5TOCK - B] par value (Natg 11}
lssued
Balanee ar beginning of vear BI0. 760,802 BLOLGO1 &7 F10691,332
Issuance of shares - 3,375 47
__ Stock options exercised 13,387 3,548 -
Balance al end of yeur ]1}.'."':'4,1??] L, 760, 802 10,691,879
subseribed (Moles 11 and 17
Balince at beginning of year 1,718 1,842 1,499
Issuance of shares (547} (L14) -
Stock options exercised - - 343
Balance at end of vear 1.151 1,728 1,842
ADDITIONAL PATD-IN CAPTTAL (Note 17)
Balance at beginning of vear 3,526,221 3,018, vop 3,013,760
Issuanece of shares - 468,073 -
ST0Ck oplions exercised 71,598 38,256 5,271
Halance at end of veas 3,597,819 3,526,221 2,018,990
SITRSCRIPTIONS RECFIVARLE {Mate 17)
Dalance st beginning of vear (19713 {18,587 {22,266)
Collections 5.452 G616 3,679
Balanee 2t end of vear {4,519} (9,971} (16,3873
TOTAL PAID-UP CAPITAL 14,368,670 14,278,780 13,696,124
RETAINED EARNINGS (Note 11)
Appropriated for fubure expansion 000,000 4,000,000 B, (0,000
Unappropriated:
Balance at buginming of year 14,995 045 13,711,434 15,438 180
Cach dividands - PO.0g Prer shans in 2004, PO.32 per
share in 2003 and B(.2] PEr share in 2002 {646,178 (5,425,341) (2,243,261}
Met income 3008472 2,708,155 1518515
Balarce ar end ol vear 19,357,342 14,995,048 15,711,434
_ 23,357,342 20,995 047 21,711,434
TREASURY STOCK (Note 1 1) (557 {(557) (5573
Y P37.725455  P35273271  B3:407.001

See qocompamng Natar fo Congedidesed Financial Staremupnes.
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AYALA LAND, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{Amuunts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31

e 2004 20005 2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before meome tax and net eurmings {loss)
applicable 1o mmority mierest 242032318 B13E6,TH B3,000,47|
Adjnstments for:
Depreciatien and amortization 437465 AN LG67TT B10.300
Ineerest expense - net of armount capitalized 416,987 g7i,930 G835 083
Provision for deubtful scconnes 15,370 11,280 37,003
Dividends received from invesiee 19,035 14,460 10,500
[nterest ingorne [639,442) [335,520) (696,926)
Bquity in ner eamings of investess [295,94]1) {128,41%) (37,193)
{3ain om sale of fvestments - 220377 (552,587 -
Utperating incame before changes in working capizal 4,926,415 4,081,251 4,475 241
Decreace (lncreaas) in:
Accounts and notes receivable - pade (3442017 (1,302,371 (1,788,714}
Suhdivision land for sale T25.698 (104,447 4005, 2404
Condominirm snd residendial units for sals 736,937 2208413 1,728,329
Other current assels (472.883) (98,737 29,992
Increase (decreusc) in:
Aceounls payable and accrized expenses 1,723,122 243016 (1L0a7.411)
Ohihwr current liabilises {55,520} 25539 A4.3009
Esrimated linbility for fand and progerty
development : 1,593,926 1,514,008 656,335
Cash generated fiom operations 5,733,478 43859 puz 4,574,328
Interest received 426,141 3489674 380,461
Inzeme tax paid (1,045,311) (1328544 (D11,376)
Interest paid - net of amount capitalised (¥23,328) (B3 205 (543,763}
Net cash provided by vrerating activities - 4.1 8R.980 2717017 3,400,450
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds fTomsule af investmens 1,340,031 AL ]
Proceeds fiom dispasal of propery and CYLIEMe T 13,459 68,599 36,541
Additions ta
Land and mgrovemenrs (72,596) (148,891 {23,179
Tnvestments (2,547,667} [3,460,506) (2,121,063
Property and equipment (329.228) (15944 (412,143}
Diecrease (increase) in:
Accounts and notes rezeivable - non-uade {153,021) {300,017y 386,227
Other noncurrent assets (279.914) 16,050 81,770
Met cash wsed in investing activiries (2.014,208) (e 100,705) (2,053,849
{ Forward)

AL
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Years Ended December 31

2004 2002 2002

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short and long-term debr B2.547.480 B7.677.764 B 740,399
Paymerr of short and long-tenm debt {3.491.991) (4,170,968} {6,T85.529)
Increase (decrease) L

Noneurrent liabilities and deposits 446,084 318,780 21,854

Minenity interest in consolidated subsidiaries 3R3.825 81,709 (122,804)
Proceeds from issuance of capital stoclk 39,800 30,300 I1,289
Dhividends paid o (645,683 (34234783 {2.245.746)
Mer cash provided by {used in) financing activites _(BRY,S0SY 334,113 {2,580.437)
MET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH ROUIVALENTS 1,505,267 {258.575) {1.023,136)
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS AT

BECINNING OF YEAR 4,854,920 5,712,405 6,737,291
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS AT

ENTI OF YEAR Pi,3600,137 P4,854,920 5,713,495

Sew acvompanying Modes (o Consolidated Financial Statemens.

QT
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AYALA LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(]

Corporate Information

Avala Land. Ine. (the Company) is incorparated in the Republic of the Philippine:. The
Company’s registered office and its principal place of business is at Tower One, Avala Triancle,
Ayala Avenue, Makati Ciry, ‘The Company’s parent is Avala Corporation (AL,

The Company is moorpotated to hold. develop, manase, adminigter, sell, convey, encumber,
purchase, acquire, rent or otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, residential
ineluding, but not limuted to, all kinds of housing projects, commercial, industrial, urban or otrer
kinds of real property; to aequire, purchase, hold, manage, develep and sell subdivision lots, with
or without buildings or improverments; to erecr, construct, alter, manage. operate, leasz, in whole
ot in part, buildings and tenements of the Company or of other persons; and Lo enzage or act 25
reatl estate broker,

The number of employees of the Company and its subsidiaries averaged 1 1,315 in 2004 and
1,488 in 2003,

The consolidated financial staterments of Ayala Land, Inc. and Subsidiaries [or the vears ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 were authorized for issue by the Audit Commitiee and Board of
Drirectors on February 14, 2063,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Bagie of Preparation
The consolidated financial statermnents are prepared in conformity with acem mling principies
penerally accepted in the Philippines vsing the historical cost basis.

Lize of Estirnates

The consolidated tinancial stalwments ave prepared in conformity with aceounting principles
generally accepted in the Philippines which requires management to make cstimates and
assummptions that alTeel the amounts reporied m the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. The cstimates and assumptions used in the acenmpanying consolidated
tinancial statements are based on management's evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as
ot the date of the consolidaled [imancial statements. Actual results could differ from such
estirmates.

0 R
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Adoption o New Accounting Standards
On January 1, 2004, the Company and its subsidianes adonted the ollowing Stitements of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) International Aecounting Standards {IASY:

o SFAS 12/1AS 12, Income Taxes, prescribes the accounting treatment for current and deferred
wneonte taxes. The standard requires the use of' s balunce sheet Hability method in ascounting
for deferred income taxes. The adoption of SFAS 12/TAS 12 resulted in the reclassification of
the current defrred tax assets and liabilitics to noncurrent deferred tax assels and habilities,
and in additional dizclosures @ the consolidated financial statements.

= SFAS I7/IAS 17, Leases, which prescribes the accounting policies and disclosures applicable
lo finance end operating lesses, Adoprion of this standard has no materia] effect on the
consolidated financial stalements, Additional disclosures were made in 2004,

Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which contral is trumsferred to the Company and
cease to be consolidated [rum the date on which contral is translomed out of the Company.

The consolidated financial staterments represent the conselidation of the financial statements
of Ihe Company and the foliowing wholly cwned and majority-owned subsidiaries:

Effective
Pereentages of Ovnership
2004 1003
Fecal Estutc;
Amorsedia Development Corporation and sabsidiaries 100, 10
OLC Develepment Corporation 100 100
Ayala Greenfield Development Corporation (AGDC)Y 30 50
Ayala Land Sales, Tne. 100 T
Bunendia Lamilboldings, Tnc. 104 {8
Cumrnunity [mnavations, ne. 104 100
Crimson Field Enterprises, Inc. 1040 LOHCH
Laguna Propertics Heldings, Tre, and subsidiaries 100 100
Regent Time Internanonal, Limited {Regent) 100 100
Red Creek Properties, [ne. 100 (Tl
Station Square East Commercial Corperation - formerly T2 o
T.iberty Real [loldings Corporution - [SSECC)
Anrnra Properties Incorporated 70 i
Westa Property Holdings, Toe, 70 7
Serendra, Tne. - farmerly First South Properies, Inc. - &7 130
{Serendra)
Ceci Realoy, Inc. 42 100
Lapuna Teelmopark, Inc, Y | 61
CMPT Holdings, lnc, G0 60
ALCIE Development Corporation { ALL-CIE) S0 50
Rowas Land Corperation (RLCY a0 S0
Construction:
Makati Development Corporaion 104 100
(Forward)

O O T

75



Effective
Parventages of Dwnerghip

204 2003

Huels;

Avala Hotels, Inc, (AHI) and sobeidiaries 20, 208,
Property Management:

Ayala Property Management Curpuration 10} 110

Avala Theatres Managemant, Tnz. and subsidiaries Nl 100
Entertaimnent

Five Star Cinema, inc, 100 [0}

Leisure and Allied Industries Philippines, Inc, (LA} a0 20
Others:

ALlretcom, lne, (ALInet) 100 [Ed]

Avala Infrastroetiure YVenmmes, e, L1} 10K}

Food Court Company, Inc, 100 100

AC owns the other 50% of AHI end subsidiaries, The Compeny cxercises contrel over AHT and
subsidiarics, Likewise, the Company, through its 50% effective ownership and by virtue of a
management conlract or sharsholders” agreement, exereises control over the operations and
management ofRLC, AGDIC, ALI-CII and LAL Accordingly, the accounts of AHIE, RLC, AGDC,
ALLCIT and TAT are consolidared with the accounts of the C_Ump:in}r_

The consolidated finencial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and other events in similar circumstences, All significant mtercnmpany iransactions
and balances, including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses, are climinated in
consolidation.

Cash and Cash Touivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and cash in banks. Cash equivalents are shor-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with eriginal maturities of
three months or less from dates of acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value,

Trade Heceivables

Trade receivables are recognized and carded at the original contract price or invoice amount less
any unrealized gain, 15 applicalle, and allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for
doubtful accounts is madz when colleetion of the full amount is no longer probabie.

Subdivigion Land for Sales and Condaminium snd Residenidal Unite for Sale

Subdivision land for sale and condeminium and residential units for sale are carried at the Jower
of cost or net realizable value (estimated selling price less cost to complete and sell). Cost
includes those costs incurred for development and improvement of the properties, inclhuding
capitalized borrowing costs.
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Land and Improverments

Land and improvements are carried at the Tower of ageregate cost or net realizable value. Cost
includes those eosts inewrred for development and improvement of the properties, including
capitalized horrawing costs. The aggrepsie net realizable value on a per location basis is
substantially in excess of costs.

Investments

Investments in associates and joint venlures are accounted for under the crjuily method of
BCCOUNTING. ATl A850CI1ATE 15 an entity in which the Company has significane influence and which
is neither a subsidiary nor a jeint venre, A joint venture is an entity, nol being 4 subsidiary or
an associate, in which the Company excreises joint control together with one or more other
partiers.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are carried in the consolidatcd balance sheets at cost
plus post-sequisition changes in the Company and its subsidiaries’ share m the net assets of the
tnvestees, loss any impamrment in value. The consolidated statements of income reflect the
Company and its subsidiaries’ share un the results of operations of these nvestees, Unrealized
geins anising from intercompany iransactions are sliminated to the extent of the Comnpany and its
subsuliaries’ interest thereon. Unrealized losses are eliminated similar] v but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. Dividends received are treated as
a reduction in the carryving value of the invesimenis,

The Company and its subsidiaries discontinue applying the equity method when their investments
inassvciates are reduced to zern. Accordingly, additional losses are not racognized unless the
Company and its subsidiaries have puarantced certain obligations of the associate. When the
associale subsequently reparts net ineome, the Company and its subsidisries will resume ipplving
the cquity method but only after its share of that net income eguals the share of net losses not
recugnized during the pened the equily methed was suspended.

The Company’s investments in associates include goedwill on aequisition {net of accumulated
amortizaton snd any impaurment in value). Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
acquiaitien over the fuir value of identifable nel assels of the associate at the dace of acquisition.
Goodwill is amortized on a straight-ling basis over a ten-vear period. Goadwill is reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may nat
b recoverable,

The Company and Eegent’s acquisition of Bonifacio Land Comparation (BLC) shares (see MNote 6]
was accounted for using the purchase method. Negative goodwill representing the excess, as at
the date of acquisition, of the Company and Regent's interest in the tair value of identifiable net
asscts of BLC over the cost of acquisition is amortized to income as the underlving lots are sold.

Investments in shares of stock in which the Company and certain subsidiaries do not exercise
significant influence md investments in lend arc carricd at cost less any substantial and
presumably perminent decline in aggregate carrying value of the related investments.
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Investments in real properties consisting of land improvernents, butldings and hotel [rroperty and
equipment are carried at cost less accumulared deprecialion and amortization and any impairment
m value. All sosts that arc directly attributable to the construction of the building and hotel
property and equipment arc capitalized, inchiding interest during construction pericl,
Amortization and deprecialion are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets.

The estimated useful lives of investments in land mmprovernents, buildings and hotel property and
squipment are as follows: land improvements - 3 years; buildings - 20 w 40 vears; and, hotel
Jroperty and equipment - 10 {p 50 years,

The cosl of significont additions, renewals and bettermunts are capitalized while minor
sxpenulilures for repairs and mamtenance are direetly charged to operations, When asscts are
retired or otherwise dispused of, the cost ang related aceurmnuiated depreciation and amortization
are removed from the sceounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or ¢harged (o vperations,

Property and Cawpment
Property und equipment, cxeept for land, are carmed at cost less accumulated depreciation and
tmartization and any impairment in value. Land is carried at cost leas any impaiment in value.

The initial cost o property and cquipment comprises its construciion cost or parchase price and
any direetly attributsble costs o Mbringing the asscl to its workin toeondition and Incadon for g
interded use. Expenditures incurred pfter the property and equipment have heen put inte
operation, such us repairs and muintenance, are normally charged Lo operations in the period in
which the costs are incurred. Tn situations where it can be clear] v demonstrated that the
wipenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expeled (o be oblained
[rom the use of 4n item of property and equipment bevord its oryrinally assessed standard of
performancs, the expendiiures are capitalized 4s an additiona] cosl of property and cquipment.

Depreciation and amortization is computed on a straight-line hasiz over the estimated useful lives
of the assels as follows: buildings and Improvements - 20 to 40 vears; machinery and construction
squipmenl - 3 years; fwnicure, figures and cquipment - 3 ta 10 vears; and, tramsportation
equipment - 3 to 5 vears,

The useful life and depreciation and amortizetion methods are reviewed periodically to ensure
that the peried of depruciation and amurtization and methods are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic bencfits from iterns of property and equipment.

Impairment of Assers

An dssessment is rmade atbalance sheet date o determine whether there is any indication of
impairment of any long-lived assets, or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss
previously recognized for an asset in pricr years may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amounl is estimated, An asset’s recoverable
amount 15 calculated as the higher of the aszer’s value in use or its net sclling price. In assessing
value in use, the estimated fumre cash Nows are discounted to their present value using a pre-fax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. For an assct that docs not generate larpely independent eash imflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unil to which the usset belongs.
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An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, An impairment loss i charped 10 operdtions in the vear in which it arises.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a chanpe in the
estimates used {o determine the recoverable amount of an asset, howewver, not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any sccumulated depreciation
and amortization), had no inpairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior yesrs. A reversal
of an impairmment loss is eredited (o current operations.

Provisioms

Provisions ere recognized when the Company and subsidiaries have a present abligation (legal or
constrictive) as a result of 2 past event, it is pronable that ar outtlow of ressurces embodying
ceonomic banefits will be required to settle the shligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the anount of the obligation,

Subsequent Events

Post yeer-end events that provide additional information about the Company and subsidiaries’
position at the balance sheer date (adjusting events) are reflected in the Hinancial statements. Posi
vear-end avents that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes o the conselidated
Enancial statements when material,

Contingencies

Contingent Habilities are not recoenized in the financial statements. They are disclosed uniess the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying sconomic henefits is rermole, A contingent asset
15 not recognized in the financial statcrients bul disclosed when an inflow of econonic benefits is
probable.

Revenue and Cost Recounition

[ncome from sales of subsiantially complated projects where collectibility of sales price is
reasonably assured is aceounted for using the full acerual method while income from sales of
projects where collectibility of sales price is not reasongbly assured is recognized wsing the
installment method. Realized income on installment sales is computed based on collestions
multiplied Ty the gross profit tates of individual sales contracts. The percentage of completion
method is used © recogmize invome from sales of projects where the Company and certain
subsidiaries have material oblipetions under the sales contract o complete the project after the
property ig sold. Under thiz method, the gain on sale is recognized us the related obligations are
fultilled.

Cost of subdivision land sold belore the completion of the development is determined on the basis
ot the acquizition eost of the land plus its full development costs, which mnclude estimated casts
for fumre development works, #s determined by the contractors and technical staff of the
Company and cerfain subsidiaries, Cost of condommium and residential units sold before
completion of the projeet is determined based on acual costs and project estimates of huilding
contractors and technical slall, The estimated future expenditures for the developiment of the sold
portion of the subdivisien Tand and condominium and residential units are shown under the
“Hstumated Liability tor Land and Praperty Development” account in the consolidated balance
sheets with the portion expected to be incurred within the suceeeding vear presented as a current

liability.
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Revenue from construction contracts ol a subsidiary are recognized using the percentge of
eompletion method, measured principally on the basis uf the estimated physical camplelion of the
coniract worl.

Contract costs include all dirvet materials and labor sosts and these indirect costs related (o
contract performance. Expected losses on contracts are racognized immediately when it is
probable that the total contract costs will exceed 1otal contract revenue. Changes in contract
performance, contract conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract
penalty provisions, and final contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs
and gross margins are recognizud in the year in which the changes are determined.

Rental incorne from investment properties is recognized in the statements of meome either on a
straighl-ime basis over the lease term, or based on a certain percentage of the gross revenue of the
tenants, as provided under the terms of the lezse contract,

Revenue from hotel operations of a subsidiary are recognized whan sarvices are rendered.
Revenue from banquets and ather special events are recognized when the events take piace.

Munugement fees from administrative, property manegement and other fees are Tecognized when
carned.

Tnterest 1s recognized as iC acorues.

atock Opoon Plans

The Company has stock option plans for the granting of nontransferable options o key officers
and employees, whereby they are granted an option to purchase a fixed number of shares of swock
ala stated price during a speeificd period. Options exercised are recorded at the option price.

Ectirement Costs

The Company and its subsidiaries delermine their retirerent costs using the projucted unit credit
method. The projected unit eredil method sees each vear of service as giving rise to an additional
unil of pensicn entitlement and values cach unit separately to build up a total retirement benefit
ubligation, Under this methed, the annual normal cost for an equal unit of benefil imereases sach
vear because the period to the employee’s retirement continuaily shortens, and the probability of
reaching retirement increases. Relirement costs include current service eost plus amortization of
past service cost, experience adjustments and changes in actuanal assumptions over the expected
remaining worldng lives of the covered employees,

Burrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed s incurred, Interest and other financing coste incurred
during the construction period on borrowingy used Lo finance property developmicnt arc
capitalized as part of development costs (included in “Subdivision land for sale,” “Condominium
and restdential units for sale,” “Land and improvements™ and “Tnvestments™ accounts in the
consolidared balance sheets). Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activilics (o
prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred,
Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary 10 preparc
the asset for its intended use or sale are complete. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds ils
rezoverable amount, on impairment loss is recorded, Capitalized bormowing cost is hascd on
applicable weightzd averare bormowiny rate.
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[mcome 1ax
Deferred income ax is provided, using the balance sheet lHability method, on all temporary

differences at the balunce sheet date between the tax buses of assels and liabilities and their
carrying amounis for inancial reporting purposes.

[Yeferred income tax Hahilite: are recogmzed for all taxable fermporary differsnces, Deferred
Income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits
of unused tax eredily rom excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular
corporate income tax and unused net operating loss carrvover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is
arohable thal laxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and carryforward benefits of unused tax credits and NOLCO can be urilized.

Drelerred income tax labilities are not provided on non-lanable twmporary differences associaed
with mvestments in domestic subsidiaries, associzies and inlerests in join: ventures.

The carrying amount of deferred income fax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
redueed to the extent that it isno longar prabaile that sulfieionl taxable profit will be availeble to
allow lhe deferred income fax assets to he utilized.

D ltrred income tax asscts and liabilities are measured a1 the tax rales that ere expected to apply
lo the period when the asset 15 realized ar the lizbility is sefiled.

Forgign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign eurrencies are recorded using the cachange rale af the date of the
iransactions. Monetary assets and liabilitizs denominated in foreign cumrencies are restated vsing
the closing exchange rates prevailing at balance sheet dates. Exchanpe szins or losses arising
from foreign exchange trensactions are credited or charged to aperations [or the year,

Olperating Leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and henefits of the ownership of the
assel are classified as operating leases. Fixed lease puyments are recoymized on a straight-line
hasis while the variable rent is recognizad as an expense hased on the lerme of the lease contmel.

Earnines Per Share

Dasic carnings per share (EPS) is computed Ty dividing net income for the vear anributatle o
common stockholders by the weighted average number of commoen shares issned and outstanding
during the vear adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends declared. Diluted EPS is computed
by dividing net incommne for the vear by the werghted average number of common shares issued and
outstanding during the year alfter mving eifect to assumed canversion of potential common shares,

Segments

The Cormpany and subsidiaries” operating businesses are nrganized and managed separately
according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each sepment representing o
stratezic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Financial
information on business ssgments is presented in NMote |8,
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MNew Accounbing Standards BEffective in 2005

Mew accounting siandards based on revised LAS and new Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) referred to as Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) and Philippine
Finaneial Reporting Smndards (PTR.Ss), respectively, will become effective in 2003,

The Company end its subsidiares will adept beginning January 1, 2005, the wllowing new
accounting standards that are relevant to the Company and its subsidiaries:

= PAS 12, Emploves Benefits, preseribes the accounting and disclosures by emplayers for
cmployee benefits, including short-term employee benefits, post-employvment henefits, other
long-term employee benefits and termmation benefits. For post-emplovment benefits
classilied as defined benefit retiremertt plans. the standard will require the use of prajected
unil credit method in measuring the retirement benefit expense and will result in change in the
manmner of computing benefit expense relatng o past service cost and actuarial gains and
lozses. The adoption of PAS 19 will result in recognition of the unfurded defined henefit
obligalion (see XNote 13) which will inerease the labiimes i the consolidated hnanciai
staternents and will be charged against 2003 begining retained earmings.

s PAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foretgn Exchange Rates, will result in the elimination of
the capitalization of foreign exchange losses, As of December 31, 2004, the Company's share
in the undepreziated capitalized foreipn exchangre lossss ineluded in hotel property and
equipment amount to B36.2 million. Upon adeption al PAS 21 10 20035, anv undepreciated
capitalized foreign exchange Tosses will be adjusted against beginning retaned eamings and
prior years' tinancial statements prosentsd will b restatod,

o DAS 32 Financial Instrumenss: Disclosure and Presentation, covers the disclosure and
presentation of all finencial insrumerrs, The Standard requires more comprehensive
disclosures abour & company's financial instruments, whether recogmzed or unrccognized in
the firancial statemers. New disclosure requirernents include terms ind conditions of
financial instruments used by the company, types of risks associated with both recognized and
urrecognized financial instruments (price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and cash flow risk),
fair value informarion of both recognized and unrecopnizad financial sesers and financial
ligbilities, and the company s financial risk management policies tnd objectives, The
Standard ziso requires financial instruments to be classified as either liabilities or equity in
acoordance with its substance and not its legal form. Disclosures required by PAS 32 will be
included upon adoptien in 2005,

o PAS 30 Finguwein! lnstrements; Recognition and Measurernent, establishes the acsounling
and reporting standards for recogrizing and measuwing a Company’s [nancial assets and
Fnancial liabilites. The standard reguires a financial asset or finaneial Hability to be
recognized initially at fair value. Subsequent ta initial recognition, the Company should
combinue to measure tinancial assets at their far values, f:'.m'cpt tor loans and Tecetvables anmd
held-to-maturity investmments, which are to be measured at cost or amortized cost using the
effectrve interest rate method. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at cost or
amortzed cost, except for liabilities classified as “ar fair value through profit and
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loss™ and derivatives, which aru subsequently to be measured ot fair value. PAS 39 also
covers the accounting for derivative instruments. This standard has expanded the definition
'Dfﬁ. derjvative mstrment o nelude dﬂrivahv&g {{'I.]'.I.d derivative-liks prnvigi:]ng} embedded 1n
non-denvative contracis. Under the standard, every derivaitve instrument is recorded i the
balance sheet as either an asset or lability measured at its fair valus, Derivalives thal do nat
quality as hedges arc adjusted to fair value through income. Ifa derivative is desipnated and
qualify as a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedging relationship, changes in the fair
value of the derivative are cither offser against the changes in fair value of the hedped asscls,
liabilities, and firm commitments through earnings, or recogmzed m stockholders’ equily
until the hedged ilem is Tecognized in earnings. A company must formally document.
designate and assuss the hedge effectiveness of denvative ransactions that receive hedpe
acecounting ireetiment. Certain procedures need to be further performed by management to
assess the mpact of PAS 39,

PAS 40, fivestment Property, preseribes the accounting Ireatment for investment property
and related disclosure reguirerments. This standard permils a company to choose erther the
fair value model or cost model in accounting for invesiment property. Fair value model
TEQUITES an investment property to be measurad st fair value with fair value changes
recogmized directly in the statements of income. Cost maode] reguires that an investment
property should be measured at depreciated cost less any aceumulaled impairment losses.
Tpen effectivity of PAS 40, the Company and cortain subsidiarics will adopt the cost mode]
and will continue to carry their investrnent properties at depreciated cost less any secumulated
impairmert losses. Adoption of PAS 40 will result in additional disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

PERS 2, Share-Bosed Paymenis, sets out the measurement principles and accounting
requirernents [or share-based payment transactions, including transactions with emplovees or
other partics 1@ be seitled in cash, other assers, or equity instrumenis of the entity. Under this
stencard, the Company is required to recognize the cost of chare options granted afier
Novernher 7, 2002 in the statements of income. The Company currently does not recognize
an expense from share oplions granted bur discloses required information for such options.

Upon adoplion of PFRS 2 in 2003, the estimated cost 25 of December 31, 2002 of share
uptions issued to the emplovees will be adjusted against 2005 beginning retained earnings
wilh a credit to additional paid in capital and prior years’ consolidated financial statements
preaented will be restated,

PEE.S 3, Business Combination, which will result in the cessaton of the smortzation of
goodwill and & requirement for an annual fest for goodwill impairment. Any resulting
negative gpodwill after performing reassessment will be credited to income, Moteowver,
pooling of interests in accounting for business combination will ne longer be permitted.
Upon adoption of PFRS 3 1n 2003, goodwill on investments in shares will no longer be
amortized, and the Company s share on the negative goodwill relating w the acguisition of
BLC shares amounting to 2693.3 million (see Note 6) will be adjusted againgt begmning
rewined earnings and prior yeurs” consolidared financial statements will be rescated.
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*  PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, specifies the
accounting [or asscts held for sale and the presentation and disclosure of discontinued
aperations. [l requires assets that meet the eriteria to he classified as held forsale to be
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and the depreciation
on such assets o cease, Furthermore, assels that meet the criteria to be classified as held for
sale should be presented separately an the fuce of the balance sheet and the results of
discontinued operations te be presented separately in the statemernts of ineomez. The adoption
al PERS 3 will not have an effect in the consolidaled fnancial statermnents.

The Company and its subsgidiaries will alzo adopt in 2005 the following revised standards.

o PAS T (revised 2003), Presewration of Financial Statements, provides u famework within
which an entity assesses how o present fairly the effects of transactions snd other events:
provides the base emiteria for classifying habilities as eurrent or noncurrent; prohibits the
presentation ol incoms from operating activities and extraordinary items as separate line
iterms in slalemenl of income; and specifies the diselosures aboul key sources of estimation,
unceriainty and judgments management has made in the process of applving the entity’s
aceounting policies. Tt also requires changes in the presentatien of minority interest in the
halanee sheet and statament of income. 'The adoption of PAS 1 would result m additional
disclosures wnd presentation changes in the consolidated financial statements,

v PAS § (revised 2003), Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Kstimatas and Krrors,
removes the concent of fundamenial vrror and the allowed alternative to retraspective
application of voluntary changes in accounting policies and retrospective resttement to
correst prior periad ervors, T delines materizl onussion or missatements, and describes how
10 apply the concent af materialily when spplving accounting policies and correcting error.
The adophon of PAS B will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial
staterments.

s PAR M0 (revised 2003), Evenir After the Bafance Sheet Date, provides o limited clari fcation
of the aeepunting [or dividends declared after the balance sheet date. The udoption of PAS 10
will ool have o mulerial <fTect on the consolidated financial statemens,

#  PAS 16 {revised 2003), Property, Pluni and Equigment, provides additional puidance and
clanification on recognition and measurement of ftems of property, plant and equipment. [t
also provides that cach part of an item of property, plent and cquipment with a cost that is
significant in relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately. The
adoption of PAS 16 will nol have o material effecs on the consolidated firancial statements.

= PAE I7 (revised 2003), Leases, provides a limited revision to slanfy the classification of a
lease of land and buildings and prohibits expensing of initial direct costs m the financial

slalements of the lessors, The adoption of PAS 17 will not have & material effect on the
consolidaled Onancial s@ierments,
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®  PAS 24 (revised 2003), Related Party Diselosures. provides additional puidance and clarity in
the scope of the Standard, the definitions and disclosures for related parlies, It also requires
disclosure of the compensalion of key management personnel by henefit ype Tha adoption
of PAS 24 will result in additional diselosures in the consolidated finaneial smtements.

= PAS 27 (revised 2001), Consolidated end Separaie Financial Staremients, reduces alternatives
m aecounting for subsidiaries in consolidated financial statements and in accounting for
investments in the separate financial stalements of a parent, venturer or investor, Investmenls
in subsidiaries will be accounted [or either at cost or in accordance with PAS 39 in the
scparate financial statements. Feuity method of accounting will no longer be allowed in the
separate financial statements. This standerd also requires strict compliance with adoption of
umiform accounting policies and requires the parent to make appropriate adjusiments to the
subsidiary’s financial statements 1o conform them to the parent’s accounting policies for
reporting like transactions and other cvents in similar circumstances. The adeption of
PAS 27 will not have a material effce: on the consalidared financial statements.

s PAS IR (revised 2003), favestments in Assoctates, reduces alternatives in accounting for
assoetates in consolidated finencial statements and in aceounting for investments in the
separate financial statements of &0 investor, Investments in associztes will be accounted [or
either at cost or in accordance with PAS 39 in the separate financial slutements, Gquity
rmethed ol accounting will no longer be allowed in the separale Snancial statements. This
standard also requires striet complisnce with adoption of uniform accounting polivies and
requires the inveslor to make appropriate adjustments to the ossociate’s fnancial statements
lo conform them to the investor's aceounting policies [or reperting like transactions and other
events i similar circumstances. The adoption of PAS 28 will nor have a material efTeel on
the conselidated finuncial statlements,

#  PAS 31 (revised 2003}, Jaterests in Joini Ventures, reducas the alternatives in accounting for
interests in joinl ventures in consolidated financiel statements and in acsvunting for
investments in the separate financial siaternents ol & venturer, Interests in joint ventures will
be accounted for sither at cost or in accordance with PAS 39 in the separate financial
statements. Equity muthod of accounting will no lenger be allowed in the separate financial
statements, The adoption of PAS 31 will not have a material effiet on the consolidated
finanecial statements.

3. Cashand Cash Equivalents

This aecount consists of:

. 2004 2003
{In Thousands)
Cash on hand and in banks BT19,747 P1,389.378
Short-term investments 5,640,440 3 465,342
#6,300,187 P4 854,020

Cash m banks eams mterest at the respective bank deposil rates. Shorr-term investments are made
tor varying periods of up to thres months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Company and ils subsidiaries. and eam inlerest at the respective shori-lerm investment rates.

RGO
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4, Accounts and Notes Receivable
Accounis and nes receivahle are summartzed azs follows:

2004 2003
iTn Thousands)

Trade - net of unrealized zain of 23,084,583

in 2004 and £1,476,03¥ in 2003 (sce Note 9) 210,583,797 127,384,541
Related parties (s=e Nate 14) 1,015,773 034,002
Advances 1,189,631 1,107,563
Advances to contracters 452,068 193,346
Acerued receivable 18,022 248,215
Dividends receivable 110,263 71,488
Cthers B 408,407 158,802

14,018,021 10,092,957
Less allowanee for deubtlul accounis 122,228 134,928
13,805,703 0,965,029
Lasa neocurronl portion 6,444,706 3,458,708
PT.ASTNRT B4 S0R 321

5. Other Corrent Asscts

This accounl consists of:

N 2004 2003
i1n Thousands)
Prepaid expenses B445.573 Bl 35,158
Value-added inpur tax 369,229 64,535
Others 238,205 A4
1,054,097 Pkl 214 )
f. Invesiments -
This aceoun! consisis of Investments in:

2004 20003

.y

hares of stock:
Al eguily:

Acquisition cost £5.400,082 P5,181,133
Accumulated equity in net earmings:
Balance at beginning of year 707,338 397,381
Equity in net earnings during the vear 205,941 128,417
Diisposal al equity investment {306,373 -
Dlividends received during the vear (19,035) (18.4040)
Balance at end af year 5R7,865 707,238
i 2.097.847 5,888,521
{Foraard)

IR
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2004 2003

{In Thousands)

Al nosl:

MRT Holdings, Ine, #335.702 BAS5,702
Others . G17.010 AR 1 5045
1.472,712 1737207
'?' 470, 59 1,025,728
Land and improvements - nel of amorization 4,660,990 2,443,257

Buildings and improvements - net of sccumulated
deprecialion snd amortization of P3,107,730 in
2004 and £2,731.582 in 2003 10,515,325 9,331,624
Hotel property and equipment - net of acoumulated
depreciation of BL,A210 318 i 2004 and
B1LIGLEST in 2003 (sec Note 9) . 3,270,509 1411690
~ P25,035,443 ¥12,712,299

The Campany and ils subsidiaries’ equity in the net assets of associates and joint ventures and
the refated percentages of ownership are shown below,

Perventapes of

Ownership Equity in Net Assels

2004 PICIE o 2004 2003
{In Thousands)
Cebu Haldings, Ine. (CHI) and subsidiaries 47 47 £1,657.537 Bl622,070
Emerging Ciry Heidings, [ne, (ECHI) il A0 1,067,733 1,564,370
Pilipinas Mekro, Ine. [PAIDD L o% — 1,125.720
Merth Triangie Cepor Conmmercial

orroration (NTDOC) 44 L 1,014,884 =
Burkshres Heldingz, Ine. (HHI) =0 =] 714,740 a7LaT
Alakang Commercial Carparation (ACC) 50 &1 471,702 444 G6T
BLC (through Regent) 4 | 390,270 318253
Lugron Development Corporation 30 20 7418 TT.717
MyvAvala.com, Ine. =0 i L6200 4 0h2
Avala Port, [ne. (Ayal Par) 50 an 7,935 -
- 25,597,847 B3 8AE, 311

On April 17, 2003, the following transactions have been consummated pursuant to the terms and
condifions of the Assignment Agreement, dated February 8, 2003, among the Company,
Lvergreen Ioldings, Inc. (EHL), Greeniicld Development Corporation and Larouge, B.V.
{Larouge), as amended. and the Aareement, dated November 23, 2002, among the Company, EH1
and Metro Pacific Comeration (WPC) as amended;

ia) The assignment to the Company and EHT of the rights and obligations of Larouge under the
loan agreement between Larouge and MPC, pursuant lo which, Larouge extended MFC a loan
1n the principa] amount of USES0 million, together with all the rights, title and interests of
Larouge in the pledge constituted on 30.38% of the outstanding shares in BLC. The
consideration paid by the Company and EHI far such assignment was appreximateby
175390 million, subjest in part Lo foreign exchange adjustment.
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{b) The assignment to the Company and E1I1 (acting in this instance through the joint venture
corporatien, Columbus Holdings, Ine.) of the controlling interest in BLC representing 50.38%
of BLC’s outstanding capital slock. This assignment was effected by MPC under a ducion en
pago arangement and included an assignment of payables of BLC in the principal amount of
#6253 mullien together with ils underlying security in the form of shares in Fort Bonifacio
Developraent Corparation (FEINZ) representing 5.55% of its owtstanding capital siock.

The Assignment Agrezment, @ amended, also provides for the constitution of a pledpe over 5%
of BLC's unencumbered sharcs as sceurity for contingent liabilites and breach of representation
and warranties, The pledge: lien over the 5% BLC shores shall continue to subsist until the third
amniversary of the closing date. '

The Company and BHI now jointly hold the 50.38% (56.19% beneficial interest) equity interest in
BLC through ECHT and BHI. The Company and ¥HI assigned the nates receivable from MPC to
ECHI and BHIL. which acquired the shares of steck of Columbus Holdings, Tne. (Columbus).
Columbus directly owns the 30.358% interest in BLC. BLC owns 33% interesl in FRDC, the
primary developer of surlain arcas in Tort Bonifacio Global City for residential, commereial and
business development

Columbus accounted for the acquisition of the 50,38% interest in BLC using the purchase
miethod. The fair value of the identifiable consolidated assets and lizbilities of BLC as at

April 17, 2003, the daie of scquisition, amounted to about #5.6 billion resulting in a negative
gaodwill of B1.4 billien. Columbus’ amortization of negative goodwill hased on FEDC lots sold
amounted to B92.2 million and 27 4 million in 2004 and Z0U3, respectively. ol which the
Company shares 50%, throuph its equity share in the net eamings of ECHI and RHIL

Regent also awns 3.9% of BLC shares which it accounted for using the equity method. Regent’s
negative goadwill arising [Tom the acquisition amounied to 857,06 million. Megative goadwill
amortization emoented o B3 4 million in 2004 and 21,1 million in 2003,

In 2004, the Campany acquired additional 30.89% interest in NTDCC in exchange for the
Company's interest in *wo companies valued at P320.1 million and cash amounting to B280.0
million, The Company infused additional cash to NTDCC amounting to B112.0 million for an
additional 1.83% cquity interest in the latter.

NTIWCC wiss prunled development rights by MERT Development Co. to construct and operale o

comumereial center under certsin termes and conditions until the end of a 50-vear lease term
renewahle for another 23 yenars,

‘The Company divested its equity sharcholdings in PMI in 2004

Uertamn parcels of land are leased to several individuals and corporations, Some of the lease
contracts provide, among others, that within a cerlain period from the cxpiration of the conwracts,
the lessee will have to demolish and remove any and 211 improvements (like buildings) introduced
or bulilt within the leased properuies, Otherwise, the lessor will cause the demolition and removal
thereof and charge the cost o the lessee unless the lessor occupics and appropriates the same for
its usze and benefit.
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Consolidated depreciation on buildings and improvements amounted to 8417 6 millien in 2004,
¥314.2 millivn in 2003 and P330.0 million in 2002. Consolidated depreaiation on hotel property
and equipment amounted to #169.7 million in 2004, #179.4 mullion in 2002 and 2206.6 million
in 2002. Consolidated amortization of land improvements amounted to B8.9 million in 2004,
F13.4 million m 2000 and #15.2 million in 2002,

7. Property and Equipment
This aceount consists of:
Land, Machinery and Forniture,
Buildings and Canstructinn Fixtpres and  Trassporiaton 2104
Improvements Equipmest Equlpment Eguipment ‘Vodal 2003
JIn Touesands)
st
January 1 F910,367 FO52. 485 2615173 sz, 00y #3 740,533 #2405 518
Addirions 33217 157,447 TLATT 61,887 F e s 360,440
Lisposils 145,311) (270023 (13271) (4LA4Ty UIT31Y 124,500
Deoember 31 #3473 1.0067.4930 673579 LTI 2,043,770 2740523
Accumulated Deprecistion aml
Amertivadinn
Ty | 196,382 453,517 423044 152,004 1,226,001 1,001,153
Depreziation 40,333 17,570 12756 5,83 314,120 ImTE
Dispnzals {30.833) (15,075) [5.23d] (36.,347) {97 985y (54,803}
Decermnber 31 195,882 256,012 343,240 11 904 1442,130 22801
MNer Book Walug BTI7,591 L PE46.218 #118.333 RI07.742 1,500,584 #1.514.522
Lonsolidated depreciation and amortization of property and equipment {charged to various
accounts] anwunted to P314.1 million in 2004, #275.7 million in 2003 and B240.5 millicn in
2002,
4. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

This account cansists of

2004 2003
{In Thousands)
Accounts payable and acerued expenses £4,411.035 B3,308.771
Taxes payable 990,373 370,193
Dividends payablz 325,440 322,875
Fetentions payable - 11453 ~ 21.634
P5,738.741 B4 023 475
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Short-term and Long-term Debt

[n 2004 and 2003, short-term debl consists of bank loans and short-term commersial papers

(STCI's),

The Company issued STCPs in 2004 with an aggresate tice value of PR 14.2 million at par with
fixed and floating interest rates, The STOPs are payalle lurmp sum st various maturity dates in

2003, The fixed-rate STCPs bear interest at 10.25% per annum (p.a.} while the floating §1TCPs
bear interest at 50 basis poinfs {bps) over the benclumark MART! rale and ars repriceabls evary
rhrese months.

STCPs in 2003 had an aggregate face value of #1.0 billion at par wilh fxed and floating interest
rates. The STCPs are payable lump sum at varjious maturity dates in 2004, The fixed-rate $1CPs
bear mterest at 8.20% and 8.59% p.a. while the floating STCPs bear interest at 23 bps over the
cencimarle 91-day rate and arc repriceable every three manths.

The Plulippine Rating Servive Corporation (PhilRatings) assivmed ¢ PRS | rating on the $1CFs
tssued tn 2004 wnd 2003, indicadng the Company’s strong capuuity to meet ii {inaneial
commitment on these 1ssuanees.

I'he bank loans of R722.0 million in 2004 and £457.0 million in 2003 represent unsecured peso-
denominated short-lerm borrowings by the Company’s subsidiaries with interest rates TANEINE
fromn 7.2% ta 9.7% pa in 2004 and 5.73% and 10.75% pa. in 2003, The B400.0 million loan
drawn by the Company in 2004 is secured by a mortgage on certuin parcals of land with o
carrying value of B10.3 million, The 250.0 million fvan drawn by u subsidisry in 2003 from an
arfiliate bank is subject 1o the Directors, Officers, Stockholders and Related Interest rules of the
Bangke Sentral ng Pilipinas.

Long-lerm debt consists of

2004 2003
[1n Thousands

Purent Company:

Bonds
Dare 2047 3,000,000 B3.000,000
Dne 2008 2,000,000 2,000,000
Bank loans - with inferest rates ranging
from 7.5% to 11.4% p.a, 1,683,333 3358333
Iined rate comporate notes (FXCNs) 1,060,040 1,060,000
7,743,333 9418333
Subsidiaries:
Banlk loans - with interest rates ranging from
B.0% to 12,015 poa.
Philippine peso 3,049,057 2385457
Torcizn cirmeney T0T,643 e
3,756,700 3505961
11,500,033 12,924 204
Less surrent portion 1,110,738 13353895
) 10,382,295 P11J8829%
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En 2002, the Company issued 3.0 hillion bonds due in 2007 at par, with interest at 200 bps over
henchmark gl-dﬂ}f T-Bills hazad cn :-:tirunrjur}l marlet bid: {}d_ﬁ;RT 1}

In 2003, the Company issued ?2.0 hillion bonds due in 2008 with fixed and floating rate tranches.
The fixed-rate bonds cany a coupon of 10.73% p.a. and have a nominal principal amount of

B1.0 billion. The floating rate honds, alsa worth 81.0 hillion, bear a margin of 123 bps over
penchmark 91-day T-Bills based on secondary market bids (WMART 1) and is re-priced quarterly.

PhilRatings assigned a PRS Aaa rating on both the Compeny’s 22,0 billion bond issue m 2003
and the £3.0 billion bond issue in 2002, indicating the Company's strong capacity to meet 1ts
fmancial commmtment on the bond 1ssucs,

The Company’s long-term bank loans will manire on various dates up to 2008, These borowings
are unsecured except for 2 #394.2 mithon loan drawn by the Company in 2003, which is secured
by # morlgare on certzin parcels of land with a camymg value of 2103 million as of 2004,

The FRCHs consist of 3-, 3-, 7- and 10-vear notes issued 1o various financial instilutions and wiil
mature on various dates up o 2012, The FXCNs bear fixed interest retes ranging rom 11.875%
tar 14.875% depending on the term of the loan. The Company may redesm all (but not parl only)
ol the FXCNe an the 2% 3" 4" and 7" anniversaries, respactively, of the 3-, 5-, 7-and 10-venr

FRCHs,

Tha subsidiarics’ loans will matre on vardous dates up 10 2011, Certain subsidiaries” loans are
collateralized by trade recaivables amounting to #52.5 million in 2002; and mortgages on real
uslate propertics, hotel property and equipment and leasehold rights with a total carrying value of
B30 billivn and B3.2 billion as of 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Commpany pledied its investment in shares of stock of S5ECC with a carrving value of
R1.4 billien and BL.1 hillion as of 2004 and 2003, respectively, as collateral to secure the laer's
bank foans,

The loan agreements contain some or all of the following reswictions: material changes in nature
of business; payment of dividends; merger or consolidation; auarznties, investments or advances;
cneumbrance for borrowed money; sale of substentially all of assets and additional loans maturing
beyond a year, exceprunder certain conditions. These reswictions and requirements were
complied with by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Inlerest capilalized smounted to 25332 million in 2004, 332 4 million i 2003 and #2HE
millian in 2002, The capitalization rates used in 2004, 2003 and 2002 ranged from 9.60 o

12.65%.
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10, Noncarrent Liabilities and Deposits

Noncurrent liabililivs and deposits consist of:

- 2004 2003
{In Thousands)

Diepaosits B21367.935 B2OGT7 751
Eztennions pavable 479,930 411,349
iJther liabilities 269,851 161,032

) B3117.710 B2.470,732

11. Staekholders’ Equity
The detailz af'the number of shares (in thausands| follow:

) 2004 2003 2002

Aunthorized L 12,000,000 12,000,000

lssued ' 10,774,189 101,760,502 10,601,479
Sebsciibed 1,181 1,728 1,842
Treasury {24) (24 [2dy
. 10,775,346 10,762,506 0,693,697

N transfer of stock or interest whicly wiil reduce the ewnership of Filipine citizens to less than
the required percentage of the capital stock as provided by existing laws shall be allowed or
permitted to be recorded in the books of the Company,

In 2004, the Board of Directors (BOU) approved the declaration and payvmenl from
unappropiated remined earnings of cash dividend ot #0.00 per share.

In 2003, the BOD approved the issuance of 63.4 mullion new cammen shares to AC in exchange
ior land wt a transfer price of 25323 million recorded under the investmenls sccount in the
conaclidated balance sheoers,

Rulained eamings include undistributed net earnimgs emounting to #4,431.1 million, 23.908.7
million, and #3,300.1 mmillion as of Decemnber 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, representing
accumulated equity in the net earnings of subaidiories, aszoctates and joiot ventunes, which are not
available for dividend declaration until received 1a the form of dividends from the investees.

Retained earnings are further restrictad fm' the pavment of dividends to the extent of the cost of
IFer shares held in freasury.
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12. Costs and Expenses

Deprectation and amorlizaten cxpense inclulded in consolidated statements of incom: are as

follows:
. 2004 2003 2002
[Tn Thouzands)
Inchuded m;
Coet of:
Real cslae B565,915 B45T 473 B30, 801
Hutel aperations 164,741 179,380 206,648
Creneral and administrative cxpenses 201,309 164 B15 172,854
] ] PU37,463 P30LG77 BR300

Creneral end adminisirative expenses consists of:

) 204 2003 2002
{In Thonsands)
Manpower cott (see Mele 13} 1,201,631 REIT11 B733,085
Depreciation pnd mmorizaton 201,809 | 64,815 172,554
Ltilities 74,2910 62,4920 38,031
Others . 622,477 455,764 348,670
) PLAOD.2OT BRI 340,310 21,313,540

Interest expense un short and long-term debt amounted to #9170 million, #8759 million and
P51 million in 2004, 2002, and 2002, respectivaly.

Lrd

CTnenme Taxes

Components ol the deferred ax assets and liabilitics as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 sre as

follows:
2004 2003
{In Thousands)
Deferred tax assets on:
Unrealized gain, deposits and accruals for
VATIOUS expenses on teal estate

rransactions P37R.288 23827711
Allowanee for probable losses 133,550 86,296
NOLCOD 492037 92,141
MCIT - 23,538 32,942
Others o 45.065 62,734
549,478 (56,824

{Foreard)

T
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2004 ) 2003
(In Thousands)

Deferred tax lizbilities on:
Capitalized customs duries, interest and other

EXPENSES (P664,810) B387.078)
Fxress of Anancial realized gross profil over

taxable realized gross profit (217.024) (160,002

Unrealized foreign exchanges pain (48,725) (16,9123

_ (930,559) (784,052

(P281,081) (P127,228)

Certain subsidiaries of the Company have NOLTO amounting to P313.10 million and 2626.2
million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which were not recognized. Further, =
subsidiary also has deductible lemporary differences arising from unrealized zain on real estate
sales amounting to #1533 million and B112.8 mallion as of Decernber 21, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, which were also not recognized. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the
extent that faxable income will be available against which the defered tax assers ¢an be used.
The subsidiaries will reeopmize a previously unrecognized detarred tax 1zsets to the extent that it
has become prabable that future taxable incame will allow the delorred tax asser to be recovered.

A3 of Decembier 31, 2004, varryover WMOLCO and MOCIT (incured in 2002 o 2004 and BxXpIres 1
2005 to 2007) that can be claimed as deduction from future raxable income or vsed as deductions

against income tax liabililics are as follows:

Year Incurred Lxoiry Date WOLCD wCTT
{In Thousands)

20002 20035 B157.512 B2 A1

2003 2008 90,245 19,877

o0 2007 S310E4 - [0

21028841 B3 538

Al Decemboer 31, 2004 and 2003, deferred income lux liabilities have not been recognized on the
undisiributed earnings of certain subsidiarivs, sssociate or joint venmire since such amounts are
not laxable.

There are no income tax consequences altaching the payment of dividends by the Company and
its subsidiaries to the sharekolders of the Company.

Pravision for income tax consisis af

aond 2003 2002
(Tn Thousands)
Current P1,095.673 BUnZ 370 P1,i07,787
Deferred 153853 (109,268 17491
#1.752.376 B793,102 P1,125,278

UMEN RO
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A reconctliztion between the statutery and the effeoive income tax rates follows:

o ) 2004 2003 202
Stalutory income rax rate 32.00% 32000 2.0
Tax efliect of:
Equily o nerearings of invesiees {2.25) (115 {032
Income subjected to lower income
tax rabes (ace Mo 20 {(1.00 (.74 (Al
Interest ineome and capital gains
taxed at lower rales .7 {3.16) {1.25)
Others - net 475 (4. 84) i.19
Effective income tax rate 20.80% 22.11% 30.69%,

14, Related Party Transactions

The Company and ils subsidiaries, in their repular conduct of business, have enicred into
mansactions wilh associntes and ather related partics principally consisting of advances and
reimbursement of expenses, purchase and sale of real propertics, construetion eontracts, and
development, management, underwriting, marketing, lessing and administrative service
agreements. Sales and purchases of goods and scrvices to and fom relaied parties are made at
normal market prices,

Revenue from Iransactions with asseciates and viher related paries amounted to B306.3million in
2004, 2148 | milion m 2003 and B230 .4 million in 20032,

The follawing are the outstanding halances of receivables from related parties resulting from the
above ransactions, as of Decerrber 31, 2004 and 20073 (see Nota 4,

20104 2003
I Thowsands)
BLC £439.381 F505,752
FROC [73.413 23T
CHI ang subsidiaries 04,407 8,876
Manila Water Corngany, Ine, 54,87 18,333
Avpluport Makad, (ne. 12,503 24 @ilA
AL 11,433 13,220
Myhyalacom, Ing 2,880 BETE
Others - 16,779 40,552
1,015,773 FDi4008

Receivables from BLC and FBDC consist of promissory notes issued by BLC, which were
assigned by MPC 1o the Company and EHI; the advances subsequently mads by the Company to
FBDC to tund the completion of the Bonifacio Ridge project and to BLC to finance the costs 1o
be incurred in relation to ils restructuring progran. These notes and advances are due anil
demandable and bear interest al the mate of 12% to 14% per annum,

O
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Retirement Flan

The Company and its submidicries have [unded, noncontributery tax-qualified defined hene[it Ly
of retirement plans covering substantially all of their employees. The benefits are based on
defined contribution formula with minimum lump-sum guarantee of 1.5 months' basic salary per
year of service. ‘The consolidated retirement costs charged to operations amounted 1o

2335, 1 million in 2004, BU1E.O million in 2003 and P76.8 million in 2002,

Dased on the latest actuarial valualions of the Company and irs subsidiaries, the agpropate
acuarial present valus of pension benelits amounted o 21,024,653 million. The aguresate fir
value of their respective plan assels umommnted to 2522.07 million. The principal actuarial
assumnptions used to determing the cost of pension benefits with respect to the discount rate,
selary increases and et on plan assets were based on histarical and projected normal rates.
Actuarial valnations ere made al least every one to three vears. The Conwany's and iis
subsidiaries’ annual contribulions to their respective plans consist principally of payments
covering the current service cost for the vear and the required funding relative ta the rusranteed
minimum benetits as applicabie.

14, Earnings Per Shure
‘the following table prisents mionnation necessary to compute EPS (in thousands cxeepl EPS):
- 21 2003 2002
Mt moome ) #'.'i..m_'i_ﬁ_..-}‘.fz BL702,155 oA El i B o )
“Wetghrad average aumber of
comumon shares for basic EPS 10,766,243 10,706,701 10,693,608
Dilutive shares arising Tom s10¢k options 26,510 26424 7074
Addjusted werghted svorame number of
___comman shares for dilued EPS 10,792,753 ‘JE)EHE,LES 10,700 682
Basic EPS P0.28 P0.25 B34
Diluled EPS P0.28 P.23 R0.24
17, Stock Option Plans

The Company has stoele oprion plans for key officers {Hxecutive Stock Ondon Plen - ESOP) and
emplovees (Cmployee Stock Ownership Plan - ESOWN) covering 2.5% of the Company's

anthorized capital stock. ‘The grantee 1s selected hased on certain eriteria like outstanding
oerformance over @ three-vear period.
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The qualified officers and empluyees moy exercise in whole or in part his vested optian in
sceerdance with the vesting percentage and vesting schedule stated in the plan. Alse, (o exercise
‘he vested option, the oilivers and emplovees are required to continue employment with the
Company or any of its subsidinries for the 10 year vplion period. In case the olTicer resipms, he is
miven 90 days to exercise his vested options, and, iT the oTicer refires, he is given 3 years to
exercise his vested and unvesled option. In case the employvee resigns and has met the S-yeur
holding period, ae is given an oprion to fully pay the remaining unpaid balanee of the subseribed
shares or terminate in tull the subscribed shares. T the 3-yuar holding period s not met, the
subscribed shares will be cancelied end all payments made by the emplovee will be refunded to
him. Steck dividends averuing from the ariginal subseribed shares, if any, will be siven to the
cmployee.

Subscriptions receivable from the stocl aption plans are presented in the staterments of chanpes in
stockholders’ equity,

I Moveniber 2001, the Company offered all its FESOW™Y subscribers with outstandin Ir
SIDSCTIPLONS the aption Lo cancel the subscriptions within the 3-vear holding period. Tn

December 2001, the program for ESOWMN was indelinitely suspended.

Movements m the number of stock options mutstanding are as [ollows:

ESCF - ESOW™
004 2003 2004 2003
Ar January | 18,756,618 CO0L0EN,GE3 3,141,100 2,140,140
Crrled A0501,923 20501 500 - —
Exvroized (A0 GH0,U2TY iZ1.,02,256% = -
Cancalled - (18,2797 T

At Uecembe 31

107578514 116,756,618

LILIOD 241,000

The options that have been exercised had @ weightad average exercise price o B4.48 or about
B173.3 million in 2004 and $4.17 or aboul B28.6 million in 2003, The averspe fair market value
ol Lhe shares as 2t exercise date was 2630 or about 2236.4 mullion in 2004 and B6.36 or abour
R135.5 million in 2002,

Outstanding options for the exceutives and key officers have the fallswing terms:

Mumber of

Exercise Dates S Options
2002 ta 2011 o, 108,550
2002 w2012 17311871

004 e 2013
5 o 0id
UMk o 2015
MMIT o 2001 R

254945 821
29241577
176149, 100
9,150,577

7,578,514
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. Segmenl Informatisn

The indusiry scgments where the Company and 1t3 subsidiaries and 2ssociates Operal 4w as

Toollenaes:

+  Land, condominium and resudential units « development and sale of lots for residental,
business and indestrial purposes, development of residential and office condommium projects

and single-detached howsing (or high-end, middle income and low tncome marlets;

*  Renfals - development of commercial centers and lease to third partics of retail space and land

|heTein; operation of movie theaters, food courts and entzrtainment. facililics in these

commercial cenwers; office units and curparks leasing;
+  Hotel operations - developmunt and operation of hotels and serviced apartments;
s Consmruction - engineering, design and construction of vertical and horizonal developments;

s Others - management services contracts and other investment activines

The Company and is subsidiaties and associates generally accounts for inter-segment rates end
transfers as il the sales and transfers were 1o third perties at current market prices.

Blslriess segments

The following tebles regarding business sepments present assets and labilites as of
Decembar 21, 2004 and 2003 and revenues and neome information for sach of the three yeirs in
the period ended Decernber 21, 2004 (in thousands).

2004
Land,
Atrwlesminnzm wnd Flasel
Fasidsnbal Unils Mk Clneruieng Compmligsienm e Texlal

Ao .07 A7 2l 407 PRET, 115 BZ555,047 BI5,126,771
UpeTaling expenscs 1,142 207 1 DEd, 097 F3,132 JA6 254 11 A5R343
Easnings bedfere uierest

w3, deprecianen and

ararmizanon (ERITTIA) 1831732 2.39% a0l 365,120 233,943 B2 45,405 445
Ceprectm asnd

Amarmizadan i, 344 567,258 177 LA N1, 344 32842 AFTARS
ERIT 21,867,137 B2 185,145 2155040 A164, |37 1,004,511 5,930,503
SHETIE 3L A%A N5 12 RI1Z333 432 237 844 B35 837 B12.003, 152 BI2.Ea9,137
Delizred Lus assels 640,474
Tarn] assels RI3145.605
Sewrnent adiioons 0 promeTYy

and swipment MU 1Y B5M.531 BT R 131474 ARG T B AL
Sepment labditize HI5.F56, 55 HE A0 H1 455 004 HELL LM HE 208508 114 A3 300
[wETHE N | mx_liﬂh"lhi.:_x_ i BIG S0
Tatal liabilities 114,423,130
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2003
Land.
Cande i anl Hizsl
Pegideanial Linits Beneals Clperations { fanstnazhinn Oithers Taenl

Haverre ' RI05T400 Bz 200 n6s HiIHzZ, 205 B1AE T 15,423,921
Thmraliag expenies 3,553,321 100412 SRS 545.13% A,717,0R%
Farmimes hiefoie iresesr,

Laxes, depreemm and .

amortization (EELTEIA) 1,100,377 2 AER, 5T 155 ET2 L dsn 193,588 R
Depreciidon med

armrznT LR 3, 545 13441 piel I8 A016TT
EQIT B, 433 260 || H149 202 BELLIT B1,12 943
SRS B3L, 420,400 15,771,374 P 316504 PR P L0768, 327 PORAGS 20
Dizferred wax pscts 656,524
Tobal A BOTULLS
Zemmers additons b property

ami =z menc MR T 912._:_7]_:!& Pl 2L AAS PLLT &% ATy Y
Zeomers labdies HIn010, 5 430089 #1,179,107 EL R F13,42,030 PA0,054.729
Deslerred cax nbilites THAAG?
—— »31738.78]
2002

Laed,
Llonclsimium and Huel
Sesidectal Ll Tianrals Cipsrasians b Lzl

Pevenus i A0 105 ?J.JE.U)_;'.- BTHIB MY Pl,l.::if:l 1% E17 214153
Uinemrisg axpeiscs 1144560 221560 PO4EET 445,035 LA
Exminm before intesesL -

taxel, Sepreciaton and

aerwizition (EBIT D) 1458242 0 I0ETAT LRI Y] 20700 06,294 5171504
Drepree itz ol
L ATRZai 0,400 213562 3G A10.H
Zarm 453,016 S REL] 231120 PuaaL 601

The prineipal noncash transactions ol the Company in 2003 sre as fallows:

- MNoteto Consolidated Staterments of Cash Flows

*  lLssuance of shares to AC in exchange for land at a transter price of B532.3 mullion (see

Mote 111},

*  Asgignmentof 2.1 billion noics receivable from MPC in exchange for equity in TCHI and
BIII [see Nowe 6.

A subsidiary 1s registeved with PEZA on October 27, 1999 as a non-pioncer “ecozone

. Rermistration with Ph iﬁppiut& Economic Zone Authority {FE?A.}

developer/operatar.” The PEZA registration entitled the subsidiary 10 a [our-year income tax
holiday from the start of its commercial operations. At the expiration of its four-vear tax holiday,
the subsidiary shall pay imcome tax at the special tax rate of 5% on iLs pross income eamed fiom
sources within the PEZ A coomnmic zone in lizu of paying all national and local income toxes,
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21.

Leases

The Company and some of its subsidiaries enter into lease agreements wiih third parties covering
retail space and land therein and office umits. These leases have terms ranging from 1 to 25 yeurs
and generally provides for either (a) fixed monthly tent, or (b) minimurm rent or a certin
PETCCRIAEE OF fross revenue, whichever 15 higher, All leases include 2 clause to enable upwean]
revision on its rental charze on annual basis based on arevailing markel conditions.

f—

! Long-term Commitments and Con l:ingum:ies

The Company has an existing conract with the BCTA to develop, under 1 lease agreernent u mall
with an estimated pross Teasable area of 152,000 square meters on u 9 8-heetare Lot inside For
Donifacio. The lease agresment covers 25 vears, renewable for anolher 23 vears subiject ta
reappraisal of the lot at morleet value. The annual fixed lease renial amounts o 2106.5 million
wiile the variable rent ranges from 5% 10 20% of zross revenues, Subsequently, the Carmpany
transferred it rights and obligations grantzd to or imposed under the lease agreement o 33ECC, ¢
subsidiary, in cxchange for equiny.

As part of the bid requirement. the Compuny procured a performance bond in 2003 from the
Govermnment Service Insurance Svstem in favor of BCDA amountingr (o 21,9 billion to guaranies
the conumitted capital o BCDA. Moreover, Lhe Company obtzined surety bonds to guarantes the
payment of the lixed and variable rent as preseribed in the lease agrevment, The suraty bonds are
secured by a mariguge on & property of cerlain subsidiary with a carrying value of P44.0 million
1 2004,

Future mimmum rental pavables under the non-caneellable aperating lease with BODA as of
December 31, 2004 aze a3 follews: within one vear - B106.5 millivn as of 2004 and 2003; after
ane year bul not more than 5 years - 423 9 million as of 2004 and 2003; ind, after more than 3
wvears - B1.703.7 million as of 2004 and 21,2102 million as of 2002, Contingent rentals charged
o aperations smounted 1o #9.4 million in 2004,

On April 15, 2003, the Company enterad inlw a Joint Development Apreement (JDA) wath BUDA
faor development of another lot inside Forl Bonifacio with a gross srea of 11,6 heemres for
residestial purposes. Pursuant to the agreement, BCDA shall contribute all its title and interes to
the lotand lhe Company mn tun shall provide the necessary cash and cxpertise to undertake and
caomplete 1he implementotion of the residential development. The Company conumuts to invest
sutficient capital to complete the residential development.

The Company procured a surety borwd with a face value of #1229 million issyed by an insurance
company in favor and for the benefit of BCDA az beneficiary. The surcty bond shall be
continting in nature and shall secure the ohlization of the Company 1o pay BCD A annual
nunimum revenue share for each of the first 8§ sclling pericds of the residential Project.

Un March 24, 2004, the Company assignad in favor of Serendma all of its development rights ond
interest under the JDA, as amended.
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In 2002, the Conwpany agreed to underwrite the subseriplion to North Triangle Depot Commercial
Corporation (MN1DCC) additional shares amounling to #1.4 billion over a 4-year aquity schedule
up to 2007 inexchange tor a 3% underwriting fee (net of a 1,5% rebate to exiating shareholders
who subscribed),

The Compuny and its subsidiarics have various contingent liabilites arismg in the ordinary
conduct of business which are either pendmg decizsion by the courts or being contested, the
outcore of which are not prezently determinable. In the opinion of manzgement and its legal
counsel, the eventual liability under these luwsutis or claims, i1 any, will not have a material or
adverse effect of the Company wnd ils subsidiarics® financial position and results of operations,
‘The information wswally reguired by STAS 37/TAS 37, Provisions. Contingent Iiahilities and
Ciontingent Aiseir, s nol disclosed on the grounds that itcan be expected to prejudice the
outcome of these lawsuils, claims and assessments. Mo provisions were made dring the vear.
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